
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 13TH DECEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER
This Agenda has been prepared by the 

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 To 
2021/22 - Update December 2017 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 1 - 20

4. Review Of Peripheral And Agency Workers 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 21 - 32

Portfolio

5. Delegations For The Operation Of The Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council Tables And Chairs 
Scheme 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 33 - 50

6. Aspire Project - Shared Apprenticeship 
Programme (SAP) 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

51 - 56

7. Changes to Fees for the Registration Service 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

57 - 60

8. The Orbit Business Centre 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

61 - 66

Information Reports

9. Winter Night Shelter 2017-18  and National Rough 
Sleeper Count 2017 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

67 - 70

10. Petition – Pedestrian Crossing, Gurnos Road 
To receive report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

71 - 72



CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph (14 ) under Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

11. Revenues & Benefits Software Contract 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 73 - 76

RE-OPENED SESSION

12. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor K O'Neill (Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, A Barry, D Hughes, L Mytton and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 To 
2021/22 – Update December 2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Provisional Welsh Local Government Settlement was announced on 10th 
October 2017 and resulted in a funding reduction of 1% for Merthyr Tydfil for the 
2018/19 financial year.

1.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 was approved at Council of 
22nd March 2017 and indicated a projected budget deficit of £6.012 million for 
2018/19 and a projected budget deficit of £16.358 million for the period 2018/19 to 
2020/21.

1.3 Proposals to address the projected budget deficits were considered at Budget Board 
on 18th October 2017 and 15th November 2017 and form the basis of this report.

1.4 The revised projected budget deficits (prior to the consideration of service budget 
reduction proposals) indicate a budget deficit of £1.910 million for 2018/19 and 
£12.790 million for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21.

1.5 Provisional service budget reduction proposals of £930,000 and required Schools’ 
savings of £471,000 reduce the projected budget deficit for 2018/19 to £509,000. In 
addition the projected budget deficit for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 would reduce 
to £11.126 million.  

 

Date Written 28th November 2017*
Report Author Steve Jones
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1.6 Further reports to Cabinet will provide further details in respect of the service budget 
reduction proposals of £930,000 for 2018/19 whilst additionally identifying further 
budget reduction proposals in addressing the provisional revised budget deficit of 
£509,000 for 2018/19.

1.7 Further reports to Cabinet will provide further details in respect of the schools’ 
savings proposals for 2018/19.

1.8 The revised budget projections assume a Council Tax increase of 2.9% for the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan, as approved for 2017/18.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The implications of the Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2018/19 
outlined in Section 5 and Appendices 1 to 3 be noted and accepted.

2.2 The Corporate Additional Demands outlined in Section 6 and Appendix 4 be 
accepted and recommended to Council for approval.

2.3 The Corporate Budget Reductions outlined in Section 7 and Appendix 5 be accepted 
and recommended to Council for approval.

2.4 The Budget Reserve Re-profile outlined in Section 8 be accepted and recommended 
to Council for approval.

2.5 The Service Budget Reduction Proposals indicated in Section 9 be noted with further 
details provided to Cabinet following completion of appropriate Business Cases 
(where relevant).

2.6 The proposed Schools budget reduction requirement identified in Section 9 be 
accepted and recommended to Council for approval.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2018/19 was announced on 10th 
October 2017 and is governed by the following characteristics:

 
o A total revenue funding reduction for all Welsh Local Authorities of 0.5% (£19 

million) from an adjusted 2017/18 base of £4.205 billion to £4.186 billion
o A revenue funding reduction for Merthyr Tydfil of 1% (£906,000) from an 

adjusted 2017/18 base of £90.589 million to £89.683 million
o Six Local Authorities, including Merthyr Tydfil, are supported by a “floor 

mechanism” whereby the Welsh Government ensures that no Local Authority 
experiences a funding reduction greater than 1%. This results in total “top-up” 
funding from the Welsh Government of £1.772 million. 

o Merthyr Tydfil is only marginally supported by the “floor mechanism” with “top-
up” funding of only £27,000

o Merthyr Tydfil’s revenue settlement is ranked joint 17th of all 22 Welsh Local 
Authorities but 3rd best on a per capita basis

Page 2



o Funding formula and data set changes have resulted in Merthyr Tydfil 
continuing to receive one of the worst revenue settlements of all Welsh Local 
Authorities for 2018/19

o Former specific grants, totalling £91.716 million, previously held outside of the 
revenue settlement are transferred into the settlement with Merthyr Tydfil’s 
proportion totalling £1.826 million

o There is no formal Welsh Government mandated 1% cash protection 
commitment for schools

o For the first time since 2014/15 the Welsh Government has provided an 
indicative revenue settlement for the following year, being a reduction of 1.5% 
for 2019/20

3.2 The summary Provisional Revenue Settlement for 2018/19 is included as Appendix 1 
and is re-produced from the documentation received from the Welsh Government. In 
addition the Welsh Government paper in respect of changes to key data sets is 
included as Appendix 2. The Final Local Government Settlement is to be announced 
on 20th December 2017 with no material adjustments expected. 

 
3.3 The summary Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2017/18 to 2020/21 approved by 

Council on 22nd March 2017 is outlined in Table 1. 
  

Table 1 – MTFP Projected Budget Deficits 2017/18 to 2020/21

Description 2017/18 
£’000

2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

People and Performance Directorate
Place and Transformation Directorate
Corporate Costs
Employee Severance/Slippage
Non General Fund Allocations
Collection Fund Surplus
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Corporate Investment Fund
Capitalisation of Severance Costs
Earmarked Reserves/Funds 

74,694
21,296
22,292

1,305
-835
-600
-400

0
-500

-2,457

75,891
21,690
21,925

1,056
-835
-600
-400
600

-500
-1,259

77,334
22,144
22,521

1,306
-835
-600
-400
600

0
-1,086

78,158
22,486
22,577

1,306
-835
-600
-400
600

0
-592

Net Expenditure 114,795 117,568 120,984 122,700

Available Finance 114,795 111,556 108,518 106,342

Projected Budget Deficit 0 6,012 12,466 16,358

3.4 It is evident from Table 1 that the projected budget deficit was £6.012 million for 
2018/19 and a projected £16.358 million for the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Page 3



4.0 REVISED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

4.1 A Medium Term Financial Plan is a rolling programme, continually evolving as further 
information and changing circumstances become known. The following identified 
changes are considered within this report:

o Implications of Provisional Settlement
o Corporate Additional Demands
o Corporate Budget Reductions
o Budget Reserve Re-profile
o Indicative Additional Demands
o Service Budget Reduction Proposals
o Schools Reductions

4.2 The financial impact of the above changes to the reported budget deficits for 2018/19 
to 2020/21 are outlined in Table 2. It should be noted that the projected financial 
position for 2021/22 is currently being determined in establishing the MTFP for the 4 
year period 2018/19 to 2021/22 and will be reported to a subsequent Cabinet and 
Council. 

Table 2 –Revised Projected Budget Deficits 2018/19 to 2020/21

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Budget Deficit – Council 22nd March 2017

Implications of Provisional Settlement
Corporate Additional Demands
Corporate Budget Reductions
Budget Reserve Re-profile
Indicative Additional Demands

6,012

-3,444
2,304

-2,362
-600

0

12,466

-5,408
2,552

-1,939
200

1,000

16,358

-6,626
2,468

-1,810
400

2,000

Revised Budget Deficit 1,910 8,871 12,790

4.3 It is evident from Table 2 that the revised budget deficit is £1.910 million for 2018/19 
and a projected £12.790 million for the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21. Indicative 
additional demands of £1 million per annum are included for 2019/20 to 2020/21 to 
reflect probable further requirements in addressing demographic growth and service 
financial pressures. 

4.4 The revised MTFP was presented at the Budget Board meeting on 18th October 
2017 attended by Cabinet and Corporate Management Team. 

4.5 Sections 5 to 8 consider in further detail the proposed revisions to the MTFP 2018/19 
to 2021/22.

  

Page 4



5.0 IMPLICATIONS OF PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT

5.1 The Welsh Government’s Provisional Local Government Settlement was announced 
on 10th October 2017 and resulted in a reduction in Aggregate External Finance 
(AEF) for 2018/19 of 1% for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. An indicative all 
Wales average settlement of a funding reduction of 1.5% for 2019/20 was also 
provided. 

5.2 The MTFP impact from the provisional settlement is outlined in Appendix 3 and is 
summarised in Table 3 and demonstrates increased spending power of £3.444 
million for 2018/19.

Table 3 – Implications of Provisional Local Government Settlement   

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Aggregate External Finance (AEF)
Transfers into the Settlement
New Responsibilities
Validation Amendments

-4,914
1,826

109
-465

-6,935
1,826

109
-408

-8,153
1,826

109
-408

Net Increase in Funding -3,444 -5,408 -6,626

5.3 The AEF consists of the total of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Redistributed 
Non Domestic Rates. Table 4 compares the budgeted AEF within the original MTFP 
with the revised finance assumptions included in the updated MTFP for 2018/19 to 
2021/22. 

Table 4 – Aggregate External Finance (AEF)

Description 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Original Budgeted AEF
Revised AEF

-4.5%
-1.0%

-4.5%
-2.0%

-4.5%
-2.0%

n/a
-2.0%

5.4 It is evident from Table 4 that the Council has provisionally received a better than 
budgeted revenue settlement for 2018/19, although Members are reminded that a 
‘worst case’ funding settlement was estimated for the term of the MTFP owing to the 
following:  

o The continuing austerity measures projected to be faced by Local 
Government over the medium term and the impact to potential future Local 
Government funding from continued financial pressures experienced in the 
National Health Service

o The uncertainty surrounding the potential implications of Brexit
o Welsh Government’s indication that the 2017/18 revenue settlement was “as 

good as it gets” with potential significant reductions from 2018/19

Page 5



5.5 It should be noted although the indicative settlement for 2019/20 is reported as an 
average funding reduction for Wales of 1.5% it is considered prudent for Merthyr 
Tydfil to budget for a funding reduction of 2% per annum for the period 2019/20 to 
2021/22. This is based on the fact that for 2018/19 Merthyr Tydfil’s provisional 
settlement of a funding reduction of 1% is 0.5% worse than the Wales average of 
0.5%.

5.6 Further detail in respect of ‘Transfers into the Settlement’, ‘New Responsibilities’ and 
‘Validation Amendments’ is provided in Appendix 3. 

6.0 CORPORATE ADDITIONAL DEMANDS

6.1 Managers have identified a number of additional financial demands, considered 
unavoidable, for inclusion in the MTFP, resulting from demographic growth, current 
and future service financial pressures, together with slippage and non-delivery of 
previously budgeted savings. These additional budget requirements are detailed in 
Appendix 4 and are summarised in Table 5.

Table 5 – Additional Budget Demands 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Education Related
Social Services
Neighbourhood Services
Corporate Costs

759
957
105
483

946
957
106
543

842
957
108
561

Total Additional Demands 2,304 2,552 2,468

6.2 It is evident from Table 5 that £2.304 million of corporate additional demands are 
proposed for the 2018/19 financial year.

6.3 It is recognised that without reflecting these additional expenditure requirements 
within the MTFP the Council will face significant financial pressures in remaining 
within Budget for 2018/19 and the medium to long term. All additional demand 
requirements however are subject to ongoing review with any identified 
amendments, owing to updated information, reported in due course.    

7.0 CORPORATE BUDGET REDUCTIONS

7.1 A number of corporate budget reduction initiatives are proposed in assisting the 
Council in meeting its financial commitments for 2018/19 and beyond. These are 
detailed in Appendix 5 and summarised in Table 6.

7.2 It is evident from Table 6 that £2.362 million of corporate budget reduction initiatives 
are proposed for the 2018/19 financial year.

 

Page 6



Table 6 – Corporate Budget Reduction Initiatives 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Capital Financing Costs
Corporate Investment Fund
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Council Tax Benefit Payments
Audit Fees/Subscriptions
Insurance Premiums
Collection Fund Surplus
Holiday Pay/Living Wage Provision
Service Budget Review

-300
-600
-200
-100

-55
-153
-250
-220
-484

-290
-400

0
-150

-55
0

-250
-220
-574

-280
-400

0
-200

-55
0

-250
-220
-405

Total Corporate Budget Reductions -2,362 -1,939 -1,810

7.3 In addressing the requirements of ‘The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015’, the sustainability of all proposals has been considered in minimising the 
potential  impact on future Budgets.  

8.0 BUDGET RESERVE RE-PROFILE

8.1 To assist the Authority with its medium term financial planning and achievement of 
annual balanced budgets planned utilisation of the Budget Reserve is reflected 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan.

8.2 For the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 the Medium Term Financial Plan demonstrates 
the Council’s commitment to utilise £1.8 million of the Budget Reserve to assist with 
budget setting.

8.3 Table 7 indicates the proposed re-profile of the Budget Reserve to assist the budget 
setting process for 2018/19.

Table 7 – Budget Reserve Re-profile 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Total
£’000

MTFP Approved Council 22/03/17
Proposed Re-profile

-800
-600

-600
200

-400
400

-1,800
0

Revised Budget Reserve Profile -1,400 -400 0 -1,800

8.4 It is evident from Table 7 that the proposed re-profile ensures a neutral impact on the 
Budget Reserve over the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21.

 

Page 7



9.0 FURTHER BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS

9.1 In addressing the residual budget deficit of £1.910 million for 2018/19 outlined in 
Table 2 further budget reduction opportunities indicated in Table 8 are currently 
being identified and validated.

Table 8 – Further Revised Projected Budget Deficits (subject to validation)

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Revised Budget Deficit – Table 2

Service Budget Reduction Proposals
Education Related
Social Services
Neighbourhood Services
Community Regeneration
Corporate Service Functions

1,910

-29
-164
-370
-103
-264

8,871

-77
-164
-554
-105
-262

12,790

-98
-164
-567
-106
-258

Total Service Budget Reduction Proposals -930 -1,162 -1,193

Proposed Schools’ Savings -471 -471 -471

Indicative Revised Budget Deficit 509 7,238 11,126
 

9.2 Service Budget Reduction Proposals

9.2.1 Corporate Management Team has identified service budget reduction proposals of 
£930,000 for 2018/19 with the majority of the proposals discussed at the Budget 
Boards of 18th October 2017 and 15th November 2017.

9.2.2 Where appropriate, business cases are currently being developed for consideration 
at Cabinet Workshops, Cabinet, Joint Audit/Scrutiny Committee and Council.

9.2.3 All proposals were risk assessed by Chief Officers and Service Managers as 
achievable and deliverable with no adverse impact on the Council’s Wellbeing 
objectives.

9.3 Proposed Schools’ Savings   

9.3.1 With effect from the 2017/18 financial year Local Authorities are no longer mandated 
by the Welsh Government to apply cash protection for schools at 1% above Welsh 
Government’s funding from Central Government.

9.3.2 Following agreement with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Learning the Chief Finance Officer notified the Schools Forum of 10th November 
2017 of the Council’s proposals for schools’ budget savings for 2018/19. Against a 
Council funding reduction of 1% it is proposed that Schools through the Individual 
Schools Budget (ISB) receive a 0% (‘cash flat’) settlement for 2018/19. Comparing 
the provisional budget requirement for 2018/19 (reflecting salary increases, pupil 

Page 8



numbers and increases in running costs) of £39.297 million to the approved budget 
for 2017/18 of £38.826 million results in Schools requiring to identify £471,000 of 
budget savings for 2018/19. The Schools Forum Working Group has begun the task 
of identifying the required savings and these will be presented to a future Cabinet for 
consideration.

9.3.3  It should also be noted that on 24th October 2017, two weeks after the 
announcement of the Provisional Local Government Settlement, Councils were 
notified by the Welsh Government that the all Wales Education Improvement Grant 
(EIG) provided to schools through Welsh Government grant via the School 
Improvement Consortia was to reduce by 11.4% for 2018/19. When applied to 
Merthyr Tydfil the 11.4% reduction equates to £248,000 less monies received by 
schools through the Central South Consortium. The Schools Forum is also required 
to address this funding deficit.

 
10.0 COUNCIL TAX ASSUMPTIONS

10.1 The projected available funding and associated budget deficits over the term of the 
MTFP as indicated in Tables 2 and 8 are based on the following Council Tax 
assumptions:

o Council Tax increase of 2.9% per annum (as per 2017/18 actual)
o Council Tax collection rate of 96%
o Council Tax base of 18,069.24 (as per 2017/18 actual)

 
10.2 A 1% increase or reduction in the Council Tax increase for 2018/19 would reduce or 

increase the budget deficit by £260,000 respectively.

10.3 In addressing the indicative revised budget deficit of £509,000 for 2018/19, as 
outlined in Table 8, a Council Tax increase of 4.9% would be required unless further 
service reductions and/or budget reduction opportunities are identified. 

11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

11.1 The revised MTFP for 2018/19 to 2021/22 currently projects a budget deficit of 
£509,000 for 2018/19 and £11.126 million for the three year period 2018/19 to 
2020/21, subject to the approval of all proposals in respect of service budget 
reductions and schools’ savings.

12.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

12.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 9



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21

Provisional Local 
Government Settlement 
2018/19

Provisional Revenue 
Settlement and Medium 
Term Financial Plan 
Review - Presentation

Medium Term Financial 
Plan / Budget Working 
Papers

Council 22nd March 
2017

Announced 10th October 
2017

Budget Board 18th 
October 2017

March 2017 to 
November 2017

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 10



Appendix 1
Welsh Local Government Revenue Settlement 2018-2019
Provisional

Table 1a: Change in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) plus top-up funding, adjusted for transfers, by Unitary Authority
£'000s

Isle of Anglesey 94,978 94,924 -0.1% 2
Gwynedd 174,043 173,859 -0.1% 4
Conwy 154,313 152,770 -1.0% 17
Denbighshire 143,409 142,144 -0.9% 15
Flintshire 189,519 187,816 -0.9% 16
Wrexham 174,049 173,485 -0.3% 8
Powys 174,388 172,644 -1.0% 17
Ceredigion 100,200 99,905 -0.3% 7
Pembrokeshire 160,765 160,084 -0.4% 9
Carmarthenshire 259,147 257,960 -0.5% 12
Swansea 316,776 316,499 -0.1% 3
Neath Port Talbot 211,783 210,832 -0.4% 11
Bridgend 191,878 190,718 -0.6% 13
The Vale of Glamorgan 152,666 151,996 -0.4% 10
Rhondda Cynon Taf 362,790 362,219 -0.2% 5
Merthyr Tydfil 90,589 89,683 -1.0% 17
Caerphilly 268,282 265,600 -1.0% 17
Blaenau Gwent 110,870 109,761 -1.0% 17
Torfaen 131,805 130,800 -0.8% 14
Monmouthshire 93,939 93,000 -1.0% 17
Newport 212,234 211,682 -0.3% 6
Cardiff 436,913 437,867 0.2% 1

Total unitary authorities 4,205,337 4,186,247 -0.5%

Unitary Authority
2017-18 final Aggregate 

External Finance* plus top-up 
funding

2018-19 provisional 
Aggregate External Finance 

plus top-up funding

Percentage 
difference Rank

P
age 11



Appendix 2
Changes in Key Datasets 

Dataset 2017-18 
Final

2018-19 
Provisional

% 
Difference Rank 2017-18 

Final
2018-19 

Provisional
% 

Difference

Population projections 59,180 59,219 0.1% 19 3,116,371 3,125,332 0.3%

Pupil Numbers - Nursery and Primary 5,278 5,286 0.2% 17 261,391 263,464 0.8%

Pupil Numbers - Secondary in year groups 7-11 2,856 2,854 -0.1% 12 156,986 157,260 0.2%

Free School Meals - Primary 1,074 1,009 -6.1% 15 46,265 45,137 -2.4%

Free School Meals - Secondary 614 599 -2.4% 11 27,055 26,298 -2.8%

Children in out of work families 3,400 3,300 -2.9% 9 133,400 129,400 -3.0%

IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - 18 to 64 2,916 2,433 -16.6% 17 106,468 90,588 -14.9%

IS/ JSA/ PC claimants - 65+ 2,493 2,398 -3.8% 1 121,761 115,720 -5.0%

IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - all ages 5,417 4,840 -10.6% 19 228,789 206,818 -9.6%

SDA/DLA/PIP claimants - 18 to 64 3,893 3,877 -0.4% 15 145,035 145,526 0.3%

Where:

IS = Income Support

JSA = Job Seekers Allowance

PC = Pension Credit

UC = Universal Credit

SDA = Severe Disablement Allowance

DLA = Disability Living Allowance

PIP = Personal Independence Payment

Merthyr Tydfil Wales

P
age 12



Appendix 3
Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Impact of Provisional Local Government Revenue Settlement

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Aggregate External Finance  (Note 1)
Budgeted Settlement  (Note 2)
Provisional Settlement  (Note 3)

84,769
89,683

80,954
87,889

77,978
86,131

Increase in Aggregate External Finance  (Note 4) -4,914 -6,935 -8,153

Transfers In to the Settlement  (Note 5)
Waste Element of Single Revenue Grant
Welsh Independent Living Grant
Social Care Workforce Grant
Looked After Children
Carers’ Respite Care Grant

598
565
408
190

65

598
565
408
190

65

598
565
408
190

65
Total Transfers In 1,826 1,826 1,826

New Responsibilities  (Note 6)
Homelessness Prevention 109 109 109
Total New Responsibilities 109 109 109

Validation Amendments  (Note 7)
Social Care Workforce Grant
Homelessness Prevention

-408
-57

-408
0

-408
0

Total Validation Amendments -465 -408 -408

Net Impact of Provisional Revenue Settlement -3,444 -5,408 -6,626

Notes

1. The Aggregate External Finance (AEF) consists of the total of Revenue Support 
Grant and Redistributed Non Domestic Rates

2. Based on indicative Council projected AEF of -4.5% for 2018/19 to 2020/21
3. Based on Provisional Welsh Government AEF of -1% for 2018/19 and estimated 

Council AEF of -2% for 2019/20 to 2020/21
4. Based on 2017/18 Council Tax Base of 18,069.24 (96% collection rate)
5. Transfers in to the Settlement of monies previously held outside the Settlement as 

specific grants
6. Additional monies included within the Settlement in respect of new responsibilities
7. Relates to amendments to transfers in and new responsibilities reflecting monies 

already included within the Medium Term Financial Plan and current anticipated 
requirements

Page 13



Appendix 4

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Individual Schools Budget (ISB)
Further requirement following the re-calculation of 
the ISB reflecting need and pupil numbers based 
on 2017/18 service provision                       

198 379 268

Learning – Enhanced Provision
Additional requirement reflects  current actual pupil 
demand in system as evidenced by the projected 
budget overspend in 2017/18,  £139,000 reported 
to Cabinet of 22nd November 2017 in respect of 2nd 
Quarter 

146 149 152

Learning – Speech Therapists
Council approved budget reduction for 2017/18 not 
realised. Meeting required with Cwm Taf University 
Health Board and Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council to negotiate costs

9 9 9

Learning – Special Tuition
Additional requirement reflects  current actual pupil 
demand in system as evidenced by the projected 
budget overspend in 2017/18,  £93,000 reported to 
Cabinet of 22nd November 2017 in respect of 2nd 
Quarter

92 93 95

Learning – Special Needs Advisory Teachers
Reflects increase in Service Level Agreements 
with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
for Vision Impairment Teaching and Mobility of 
£23,000 (£12,000 to £35,000) and Additional 
Learning Needs Equipment of £5,000 (£10,000 to 
£15,000)

28 28 28

School Transport – Special Educational Needs
Relates to additional contracts and revisions to 
prices. 28 contract requests made between July 
2017 and September 2017

199 199 199

Page 14



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Children Looked After Residential Placements
Reflects financial pressures resulting from 
additional residential placements as evidenced by 
the projected budget overspend in 2017/18, 
£331,000 reported to Cabinet of 22nd November 
2017 in respect of 2nd Quarter

340 340 340

Neighbourhood Services – Street Cleansing
Reflects employment of additional Fly Tipping 
Clearance team in order to achieve 5 day 
clearance target. Relates to 2 agency employees 
plus transport.

50 51 53

School Transport
Reflects additional contracts and revisions to 
prices

87 89 91

Neighbourhood Services – Street Lighting
Relates to 6 year  rolling programme of compliance 
testing of the street lighting assets consisting of 
electrical network/column testing and structural 
column testing

30 30 30

Corporate Services - Benefits
Reflects the Department for Work and Pensions’ 
indication that Housing Benefit Administration 
Grant will reduce to circa £245,000 in 2018/19 and 
by a further 10% in each subsequent year

51 71 89

Corporate Property - Rentals
Reflects loss of rental income following Cabinet 
approved sales of Pontcae Surgery (£18,000) and 
Gurnos Farm (£6,250) on 22nd March 2017 and 
13th September 2017 respectively

25 25 25

Page 15



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Customer Programme
Delivery of £280,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£500,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable at this 
time. Business cases considered at Audit 
Committee on 1st December 2017 and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee on 8th December 2017 prior to 
consideration at Council on 13th December 2017. 
In addition £27,000 additional monies is required to 
support the extension of the Revenues and 
Benefits software support and maintenance 
contract including enhancements to support the full 
implementation of the Customer Programme – 
considered at Cabinet of 13th December 2017.

307 307 307

Supporting People
Delivery of £200,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£400,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable at this 
time

200 200 200

Strategic Social Services
Delivery of £417,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£1.01 million for 2018/19 and £1.31 million 
thereafter included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable in the 
short-term. These include Business Cases in 
respect of Day Centres and Care Homes. 

417 417 417

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust
The budgeted management fee reduction of 
£100,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan is considered unrealistic until the 
Trust’s financial position stabilizes. An additional 
financial contribution to the Leisure Trust for 
2017/18 was approved by Council on 22nd 
November 2017.  

100 100 100

Page 16



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service Levy
The Council was notified on 7th November 2017 of 
the South Wales Fire and Rescue Service’s 
intention to increase its levy to its constituent Local 
Authorities for 2018/19 by 1.36%. Merthyr Tydfil’s 
proposed equivalent increase is 1.08% resulting in 
a total proposed levy for 2018/19 of £2,772,639. In 
responding to the consultation exercise the Council 
has expressed its view that the levy should mirror 
the Local Government Revenue Settlement 
whereby the Council suffered a 1% reduction in 
funding. 
 

25 25 25

Energy Levy
Reflects the increase in the Climate Change Levy 
to 0.847 pence per KWh for electricity and 0.339 
pence per KWh for gas. Additional costs relating to 
2018/19 are met from the existing Energy Levy 
budget. 

0 40 40

Total 2,304 2,552 2,468

Page 17



Appendix 5

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Capital Financing Costs
Negotiation of early repayment of £12 million long-
term loans with Commerzbank in January/February 
2018. Relates to Lender Option/Borrower Option 
(LOBO) loans at current coupon rate of 4.5%. The 
anticipated savings are net of an estimated 
premium charge of £4.6 million for early 
repayment.

-300 -290 -280

Corporate Investment Fund
Relinquishment of budgeted contribution of 
£600,000 for 2018/19 whilst reflecting reduced 
contributions of £200,000 for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
The Fund balance at 31st March 2018 is 
anticipated to be in excess of £600,000 offering 
further support for invest-to-save opportunities. In 
addition further contributions to the Fund may 
result from ongoing reviews of and release from 
earmarked reserves balances.

-600 -400 -400

Corporate Vacancy Factor
Relates to savings resulting from the time elapsing 
between core funded posts becoming vacant and 
being filled. Proposal to increase budget from 
£400,000 to £600,000 for 2018/19 reflecting the 
surplus outturn reported for 2016/17 and projected 
for 2017/18.

-200 0 0

Council Tax Benefit Payments
Relates to the council tax reduction scheme and is 
based on eligible caseload. As at 31st October 
2017 caseload was 6,695 compared to 7,668 when 
scheme was introduced in 2013/14. Budget was 
reduced by £200,000 from 2017/18 but it is 
considered that a further budget reduction can be 
accommodated.

-100 -150 -200

External Audit and Inspection Fees
Wales Audit Office Audit Plan for 2017 reflects a 
reduction in fees from £338,000 to £313,000 for 
2017/18 with current budget set at £380,000.

-50 -50 -50

Page 18



Appendix 5 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Insurance Premiums
Proposed ‘one-off’ reduction of contribution to 
insurance premium costs from £553,000 to 
£400,000 for 2018/19 with the Insurance Fund 
covering any shortfall. A £500,000 insurance fund 
injection “holiday” is already approved for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 with an Insurance Fund balance of 
£2.382 million at 31st March 2017. An Insurance 
Provision of £1.004 million at 31st March 2017 also 
exists reflecting the Authority’s outstanding 
insurance claims obligations.

-153 0 0

Subscriptions
This consists of annual subscriptions to the Welsh 
Local Government Association (£78,000), Society 
of Welsh Treasurers (£3,000), Institute of Public 
Finance Statistics (£8,000), South Wales Local 
Resilience Forum (£5,000) and Consortium of 
Local Authorities in Wales (£1,000).
Saving of £5,000 against budgeted £100,000.

-5 -5 -5

Collection Fund Surplus
Based on trend data and projected council tax 
income due it is anticipated that budgeted 
£600,000 will be exceeded by a minimum of 
£200,000.
 

-250 -250 -250

Holiday Pay
Responding to case law this relates to holiday pay 
for employees regularly working above contracted 
hours. Proposal to release £70,000 of budgeted 
£100,000 since additional costs absorbed within 
service areas.

-70 -70 -70

Living Wage Provision
This provision is no longer required since the 
commitment has been absorbed within service 
budgets.

-150 -150 -150

Page 19



Appendix 5 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Service Budget Review
This relates to adjustments to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan reflecting  salary grades and points, 
membership of the pension fund, business rates 
and general assumptions where applicable

-484 -574 -405

Total -2,362 -1,939 -1,810

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Review of Peripheral and Agency Workers

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Many organisations will have two pools of labour.  This will usually include a fixed 
‘establishment’ of permanent positions that are required, and a peripheral 
(temporary) pool.  The peripheral (temporary) pool offers flexibility to absorb and 
respond to peaks and troughs in service delivery.  These include a variation of part 
and full time contracts.

1.2 As a result of the recession in 2008, the Council has been in Austerity measures.  In 
order to control salary costs, a moratorium (recruitment freeze) was introduced.  
Monatorium reports are approved by trade unions and Corporate Management Team 
collectively.  

1.3 In order to achieve additional efficiency and cost savings measures, the ability to 
engage and recruit agency staff was far more cost effective than employing staff 
directly.  Whilst always engaging staff above the National Minimum Wage, this 
approach brought about additional savings to the authority through a reduction of on-
costs (i.e. Local Government Pension Scheme, Automatic Increments, etc). Agency 
staff are engaged to cover the following requirements :

* Vacant Positions
* Ad-Hoc and Project related positions (usually of a fixed term nature)
* Annual Leave and Sickness Leave

1.4 The Council has worked continuously year on year to reduce the number of agency 
staff engaged within the Council.  As a result, Pertemps have received less business 
year on year.  As part of our commitment to all staff, we ensure that temporary 
workers do not receive any terms and conditions less favourable than permanent 

Date Written 30th November 2017*
Report Author Jeremy Ashdown
Service Area Human Resources
Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



employees.  Agency staff have also benefitted from training and support from the 
Council.  Our revised approach is referred to as ‘the parity model’.  All agency staff 
will receive the same grade as their permanent counterparts. 

1.5 Earlier this year, the Council put its agency contract to procurement.  Pertemps were 
successful in being awarded the contract which came into effect on 1st November 
2017.  The new contract includes a 15% year on year usage reduction.  As a result, 
the costs for engaging agency staff have increased. Following Pension Auto-
Enrolment, we are also required to pay considerable on-costs amounting to 30%  
Comparing costs on a like for like basis (Appendix 1), the cost benefit deferential that 
was once in place has now eroded to such an extent that it is now more beneficial to 
engage staff directly.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Delegated authority is given to Human Resources and Organisational Development 
to control and veto requests for peripheral staff (either using Pertemps Management 
Information system, or our own P2P system).  The policy and procedure (last 
approved by Council on 11 July 2011) is updated as per the attachment.

2.2 HR to develop an action plan which will include the review of all vacancies currently 
occupied by agency staff, with consideration to adopting a phased approach over the 
term of the new contract with Pertemps to reviewing the use of agency staff against 
other methods of employment.

2.3 A maximum cap will be imposed for all new Agency Staff of three months (12 weeks) 
for all new agency contracted positions with effect from 1st January 2018.  Any 
proposal to extend will require the prior agreement of CMT / Head of Human 
Resources.  This will not apply to current staff within contract.  

2.4 Collaborative work on the use of peripheral and agency staff is reviewed collectively 
by management and Trade Union colleagues.

2.5 Positions which are currently occupied by agency staff are used first to consider 
another an employee who may be identified as being ‘at risk’ of potential redundancy 

2.6 The Council considers alternative methods of engaging peripheral staff (i.e. fixed 
term, annualised, and flexible working contracts). 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Many organisations will have two pools of labour.  This will include a fixed 
establishment of positions that are required, and a peripheral (temporary) pool.  The 
peripheral (temporary) pool offers flexibility to absorb and respond to peaks and 
troughs in service delivery.  Until 2015, the Council employed a number of 
supernumerary and casual staff.

3.2 As a result of the recession in 2008, the Council has been in Austerity measures.  In 
order to control salary costs, a moratorium (recruitment freeze) was introduced.  

Page 22



Moratorium reports are approved by trade unions and Corporate Management Team 
collectively.  

3.3 In order to achieve additional efficiency and cost savings measures, the ability to 
engage and recruit agency staff was far more cost effective than employing staff 
directly.  Whilst always engaging staff above the National Minimum Wage, this 
approach brought about additional savings to the authority through a reduction of on-
costs (i.e. Local Government Pension Scheme, Automatic Increments, etc.). Agency 
staff are engaged to cover the following requirements :

3.4 Current Usage

At the time of writing this report (30 November 2017), the current usage of Pertemps 
/ Network Health Staff is as follows.

Department Agency Staff
Community Regeneration 33
Corporate 6
Education 9
Environmental Services 1
Neighbourhood Services 4
Payroll 1
Social Care 52

TOTAL 106

Breakdown by service

The contract was highly cost beneficial for a period of time resulting in some agency 
staff being engaged for long periods of time.  

Duration Agency 
Staff

Duration Agency 
Staff

1 Month 6 3 Years 11
2 Months 3 4 Years 5
3 Months 2 5 Years 2
4 Months 2 6 Years 5
5 Months 0 7 Years 2
6 Months 9 8 Years 6
6 Months to 1 Year 14 9 Years 0
1 Year 26 10 Years + 3
2 Years 9

3.5 The contract was initially awarded to Pertemps and has been successfully renewed 
since.  The contract was initially awarded on the “Swedish Derogation” model.  
Essentially this means that agencies employ agency staff directly on their own 
contracts and terms and conditions and rates of pay.  This complies with the Agency 
Workers Regulations 2011.  Pertemps have appointed their own Contract Manager 
(Samantha Jones) to assist us with the management of staff.  As Pertemps does not 
have its own branch in Merthyr, we supply the agency with office space and 
accommodation.

Page 23



3.6 The contract was developed on a ‘Master Vendor’ basis.  Essentially, this meant that 
Pertemps would be responsible for supplying peripheral staff across all occupational 
groups, and would essentially sub-contract with other specialist agencies where they 
were not in a position to supply staff themselves directly. The benefit being that all 
agency staff would incur the same beneficial rates.  A good example is Social Care.  
Pertemps has an arrangement with its sister company, ‘Network Health’ for the 
supply of agency staff.  

3.7 The Council has worked continuously year on year to reduce the number of agency 
staff engaged within the Council.  As a result, Pertemps have received less business 
year on year.  As part of our commitment to all staff, we ensure that temporary 
workers do not receive any terms and conditions less favourable than permanent 
employees.  Agency staff have also benefitted from training and support from the 
Council.  Our revised approach is referred to as ‘the parity model’.  All agency staff 
will receive the same grade as their permanent counterparts. 

3.8 Earlier this year, the Council put its agency contract to competitive tender.  Pertemps 
were successful in being awarded the contract which came into effect on 1st 
November 2017.  The new contract includes a 15% year on year usage reduction.  
As a result, the costs for engaging agency staff have increased. Following Pension 
Auto-Enrolment, we are also required to pay considerable on-costs amounting to 
30%  Comparing costs on a like for like basis (Appendix 1), the cost benefit 
deferential that was once in place has now eroded to such an extent that it is now 
more beneficial to engage staff directly.

3.9 The use of agency staff can also result in additional organisational challenges 

 Lack of security for agency staff;
 Lack of opportunities for succession planning;
 Positions currently occupied by agency staff are not on the redeployment list ;
 The majority of agency staff are occupying vacant positions. These include a 

variation of part and full time contracts;
 No contractual obligations are in place between agency staff individually and the 

Council.  This can lead to the loss of experienced agency staff at any time;
 Increased costs as a result of high demand and limited supply (i.e. Social Care 

Staff), resulting in agency staff receiving more remuneration compared with 
MTCBC staff

3.10 There will always be a need for agency staff.  This report makes some 
recommendations in reviewing how we use agency staff moving forward, whilst still 
retaining the ability to have a peripheral / flexible workforce to help us to respond to 
peaks and troughs in service delivery.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 None specifically identified in this report.

Page 24



5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 25



Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council

Use of Temporary and Agency Workers
Policy

Date Last approved by council: 20 July 2011
Date of implementation: 
Date of review: 

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION 

2. AIMS OF POLICY 

3. LEGAL OBLIGATIONS 

4. SCOPE OF POLICY 

5. RESPONSIBILITIES 

6. USE OF TEMPORARY AGENCY WORKERS 

7. LENGTH OF USE AND RE-ENGAGEMENT 

8. RIGHTS OF WORKERS AFTER 12 WEEKS 

9. FACILITIES AND AMENITIES 

10. VACANCIES 

11. MANAGING THE USE OF TEMPORARY AGENCY WORKERS 

12. EXCEPTION TO THE RULE (KNOWN AS THE ‘SWEDISH DEROGATION’) 

13. PRE-EMPLOYMENT CHECKS 

14. INDUCTION AND PERFORMANCE 

15. WORKFORCE DATA 

16. HEALTH AND SAFETY 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council engages a peripheral (temporary workforce) to respond to peaks and 
troughs in demand, and to cover vacancies and periods of leave.  Moving forward, 
the council will undertake a specific project which will consider how vacancies will be 
covered on the basis that temporary staff will be for a time limited period of 12 weeks 
(3 months), unless there is pre-approval from the Head of Human Resources / CMT 
to extend to another finite period.  

2.0 AIMS OF POLICY

Page 26



2.1 The aim of this policy is to implement a consistent and coordinated approach to all 
elements of using agency (temporary) staff.

2.2 It will provide guidance and a framework for the Council, clarifying procedures and 
setting standards.

4.0 LEGAL OBLIGATIONS

3.1 The law relating to this Policy includes the Agency Workers Regulations 2010, the 
Employment Rights Act 1996, the Employment Agencies Act 1973, and the Conduct 
of Employment Agencies and Employment Businesses Regulations 2003.

3.2 A temporary worker is a worker with a contract of employment or an employment 
relationship with a temporary work agency with a view to being assigned to a user 
undertaking to work temporarily under its supervision and direction.

3.3 This does not mean that they become employees. However the costs when using 
agency workers will increase if the remuneration to the worker increases after 12 
weeks.

4.0 SCOPE OF THE POLICY

4.1 This Policy covers all NJC employees that are temporary to the Council. It also 
covers managers that use the policy to recruit new workers who are responsible for 
its correct application. It refers to all areas of the Council.

4.2 It does not cover those who work within schools but it is recommended that schools 
adopt this policy as the legal requirements are the same for schools as for other 
areas of the Council.

4.3 This policy does not cover employees that have been permanently recruited to the 
Council via a recruitment/employment agency, or those that are classed as self-
employed contractors.

5.0 RESPONSIBILITIES

5.1 The overall responsibility for the use of peripheral and agency staff is with the Head 
of Human Resources, who will manage the contract with Pertemps, who will work 
together to and will work with procurement to negotiate the best terms.

5.2 It is the responsibility of managers and budget holders to discuss with Human 
Resources the service needs and the use of temporary workers. Human Resources 
may be able to advise alternative ways to cover work other than via agency workers.

5.3 Administration of agency workers is the responsibility of the Service area via a new 
online Pertemps Systems / P2P System, in line with procurement regulations. This 
means recording their use, managing the paperwork, discussing health and safety 
with the Agency etc. Please note that any requests for agency staff must be 
approved by Human Resources, who will have a right to veto if approval is not 
granted.

Page 27



5.4 Budget holders should monitor the use of agency workers.  Human Resources will 
monitor the overall efficiency of the contract and will report on usage, issues and 
concerns.

5.6 Even though the agency worker is not an employee, the Council is responsible for 
the Health and Safety of the worker.

5.7 The agency worker is entitled to parity of terms and conditions, treatment and 
protection from any inappropriate behaviour.

6.0 USE OF TEMPORARY AGENCY WORKERS

6.1 Service areas may have a number of reasons for considering the use of agency 
workers to cover on a temporary basis such as:

 over short term absence such as sickness
 Temporary increase in work, such as seasonal work
 Time bound specialist projects
 Urgent short term need to fill vacancy
 Annual leave cover
 Maternity/ paternity cover

With effect from 1st January, this will no longer apply to covering vacant positions.

6.2 Managers should consider whether they can use other methods of filling vacancies if 
it is expected to last longer than a few weeks, such as direct employment for a fixed 
period of time. On-going vacancies should not be filled by agency staff.

6.3 Maximum Caps

A maximum cap will be imposed for all new Agency Staff of three months (12 weeks) 
for all new agency contracted positions with effect from 1st January 2018.  Any 
proposal to extend will require the prior agreement of CMT / Head of Human 
Resources.  This will not apply to current staff within contract.  

7. LENGTH OF USE AND RE-ENGAGEENT

7.1 The law states that any temporary agency worker that is employed for a continuous 
period of 12 weeks should be given ‘equal treatment’ and parity to permanent 
employees.

7.2 Temporary workers should be used for short periods of time whenever possible. If 
there is a need to retain a temporary worker for longer than 12 weeks, the terms and 
conditions should be agreed prior to agreeing the costs to ensure that it is budgeted 
for.

7.3 Re-engagement of an agency worker within a 6 week period will likely be classed as 
continuous service. Robust planning as to the length of use of agency workers 
should be carried out in advance to prevent such usage.

Page 28



7.4 There are some breaks longer than 6 weeks that may be classed as continuous. 
These include sickness up to a total of 28 weeks (evidence may be required); 
cessation of work that also affects the other workers that are employees preventing 
the agency worker from working; any statutory or contractual time off such as annual 
leave; jury service; or a strike or lockout.

7.5 Additionally, where the break is related to pregnancy, maternity, paternity, or 
adoption leave the break counts towards qualification.

7.6 Agency workers that are used for at least two assignments or two different roles 
could be classed as having developed a pattern of continuity. It is important to keep 
robust records of the use of agency workers so that patterns can be identified.

8. RIGHTS OF WORKERS AFTER 12 WEEKS

8.1 After 12 weeks the worker must get ‘equal treatment’ on:

 Basic pay
 Overtime
 Shift allowance/ unsocial hours
 Working hours
 Rest periods
 Holidays
 Training
 Childcare vouchers/crèche facilities
 Transport facilities
 Information on internal vacancies (from day one)
 Site facilities

8.2 The agency worker will not be eligible for the following:

 Loan agreements or expenses
 Redundancy pay and notice
 Pensions 
 Occupational sick pay
 Maternity / Paternity Pay
 Any payment for time off work in accordance with certain statutory rights
 Guaranteed pay under the Employment Rights Act 1996

8.3 Agency workers are entitled to health and safety protection from day one. For 
pregnant workers they have a right to paid time off for ante-natal appointments, and 
if their work is a health and safety risk due to their pregnancy, the hirer should look 
for alternative work. If this isn’t possible the worker should be paid for the duration of 
the assignment even if she does not actually work.

9.0 FACILITIES AND AMENITIES

9.1 One the first day of the assignment and regardless of the length of the assignment, 
agency workers are entitled to have equal access to the same facilities and 
amenities (but not an absolute right). This includes any canteen, child care facilities, 

Page 29



transport services, available car park space. But this does not include season tickets, 
and car loans.

10. VACANCIES

10.1 From day one an agency worker is entitled to be informed of any vacant positions 
within the Council to allow them the same opportunity as others to find permanent 
employment.

10.2 This does not include any posts that are restricted, such as those only offered to 
anyone on the redeployment list.

10.3 The means of informing can be via a posting on a notice board and does not have to 
be directly sent to the agency worker. However equal opportunities should be offered 
and the communication method should be the same as with employees (e.g. via 
bulletins).

11.0 MANAGING THE USE OF TEMPORARY AGENCY WORKERS

11.1 Managers should look at their staffing needs in advance by working with Human 
Resources and using workforce planning to inform them of the numbers needed and 
costings.

11.2 When planning the use of an agency worker, the manager should look at the likely 
additional costs for agency workers if employed for longer than 12 weeks, or if more 
than one engagement will be required in a relatively short period. This discussion will 
also ensure equal treatment.

11.3 The Council will negotiate the terms of workers with the employment business 
(agency).

11.4 Robust records of the use of the agency worker should be kept, including any 
separate contracts that have been issued, their dates and duration. This will assist in 
identifying if continuity exists or not.

12.0 EXCEPTION TO THE RULE (KNOWN AS THE ‘SWEDISH DEROGATION’)

12.1 Where agency workers are directly and permanently employed by the agency and 
are guaranteed at least 50% of their basic wages during times where work isn’t 
provided, they are not entitled to the pay elements after 12 weeks. They will however 
be eligible for equal working hours and leave. This ‘derogation’ from the rule would 
only count if the agency worker falls in this category. No such arrangement should 
be entered into without prior agreement from the Head of HR.

13. PRE-EMPLOYMENT CHECKS

13.1 When taking on temporary agency workers, evidence of the agency having 
completed the pre-employment checks should be sought from them prior to the 
worker starting with the Council. The Safe Recruitment Guidance should also be 
referred to when taking on temporary workers if the post involves working with 
children or vulnerable adults.

Page 30



13.2 The agency will be required to undertake the following:

o Visual identity and confirmation
o Personal suitability including qualifications and experience
o CRB if required
o Eligibility to work within the UK
o Relevant and up to date training
o Monitoring of working time
o Appraisals (negotiable)

13.3 Temporary workers who are not agency workers and are directly recruited via the 
Council will need to follow the Recruitment and Selection Policy, and Procedure. 
Recruiting managers are expected to ensure that this is undertaken.

14. INDUCTION AND PERFORMANCE

14.1 All new employees and workers, whether temporary or permanent should be fully 
inducted into the Council. Please refer to the Induction Policy for more information.

14.2 If the performance of the worker is not satisfactory, depending on the agreement in 
place, the worker should be approached to seek to resolve the issue. This may take 
the form of the agency undertaking an assessment or appraisal or it may have been 
agreed that the Council can do this role.

14.3 A true agency worker would be able to be replaced as part of the Agency-Council 
contract if their work is not satisfactory or holds health and safety risks for the worker 
to continue (due to lack of essential experience etc.).

15. WORKFORCE DATA

15.1 For the purposes of workforce information, the agency worker should be classed as 
part of the Councils workforce and not the agencies.

15.2 Where there is an existing obligation to provide workforce information, such as to 
recognised union representatives within the workforce, then data on numbers of 
agency workers, the area of the business that they work in, and the type of work they 
undertake should also be made available.

15.3 This would come into force in situations with collective redundancy, TUPE, etc. as 
part of the disclosure of information to worker representatives, or as part of TULRCA 
for redundancies.

15.4 All services that make significant use of agency workers will need to conduct an 
assessment of the impact of the Regulations on their operations. This will include the 
pattern of use of agency workers, duration of their use, and the extent of the ‘gaps’ 
between engagements.

16. HEALTH AND SAFETY

16.1 For health and safety purposes the agency worker could be considered an employee 
of both the Agency and the Council as both the Agency and the Council have to 
ensure the agency worker is not put at risk.

Page 31



16.2 This means there is dual responsibility for health and safety, such as the risk 
assessment.

16.3 Prior to the agency worker starting, the manager needs to agree the practical 
arrangement with the agency on such areas as training on equipment, who supplies 
personal protective equipment (PPE), what their role is to be, and any other matter 
that may hold a health and safety risk.

16.4 Queries in regards to health and safety issues should be directed to Alyn Dinham, 
Health and Safety Manager.

16.5 Queries in relation to the contract as a whole should be directed to the Head of 
Human Resources

Page 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

DELEGATIONS FOR THE OPERATION OF THE 
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
TABLES & CHAIRS SCHEME

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council operates a scheme for placing tables and chairs on the highway. Since 
its inception in May 2004, it has been extended and modified on a number of 
occasions. The scheme last came before Council on the 18th June 2014 when it 
resolved to extend the scheme area to cover the Pontmorlais area, to adopt 
conditions and guidance and give delegations to officers to facilitate the smooth 
operation of the scheme.

1.2 Although the scheme has operated successfully, a review has highlighted two 
matters that need to be addressed. These are set out below.

1.3 Regulating the placing of tables & chairs on the highway is an executive function. 
The resolutions referred to in 1.1 above were made by Council and as such it is 
recommended that new Cabinet resolutions be made replicating as far as possible 
those referred to in 1.1 above which are more particularly detailed in 3.1 below. 

1.4 Being an executive function the regulating of table and chair permits fall outside the 
procedure normally used by the Council in licensing type matters eg. applications 
where objections have been received and/or written/oral representations have been 
made are determined by the Licensing Sub Committee. In light of this, it is 
recommended that the determination of all future applications for table & chair 
permits subject to objections/representations be delegated to the Public Protection 

Date Written 13th November 2017
Report Author Simon Jones
Service Area Legal & Democratic
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



and Housing Manager or in his/her absence to the Trading Standards Licensing and 
School Transport Manager supported in both instances by a member of the 
authority’s legal team.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 That the boundary for the tables and chairs scheme shall cover the Town Centre 
area of Merthyr Tydfil more particularly detailed on the plan attached at Appendix 1 
as the area coloured pink.

2.2 To adopt the conditions and guidance set out at Appendices 2 & 3.

2.3 To accept a yearly payment of £1400 to be paid on the 1st June every year to the 
Council by the Big Heart of Merthyr Business Improvement District in lieu of 
individual application fees to site tables and chairs on the Highway in the area 
delineated in Appendix 1.

2.4 To delegate the power to amend conditions & guidance, review and if necessary vary 
the fees to the following officers in consultation with the Cabinet member for 
Regeneration & Public Protection:
a) The Deputy Chief Executive or
b) The Public Protection and Housing Manager or
c) The Trading Standards & Licensing & School Transport Manager

2.5 To delegate the power to issue permits where the application is properly made and 
where there are no objections to the application to:
a) Licensing Officers and/or
b) The Trading Standards, Licensing & School Transport Manager

2.6 To delegate the power to issue permits where there are objections/representations to 
the application to the Public Protection and Housing Manager or in his/her absence 
to the Trading Standards Licensing and School Transport Manager supported in both 
instances by a member of the authority’s legal team.

2.7 To delegate the power to carry out any necessary enforcement in relation to the 
operation of the permits to:
a) Licensing Officers and/or
b) Trading Standards Officers and/or
c) The Trading Standards, Licensing & School Transport Manager

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Since May 2004 the Council has operated a scheme for placing tables and chairs on 
the highway in the County Borough. Initially it applied only to the “Café Quarter” 
located in the lower High Street areas but this has subsequently been extended. On 
27th June 2007 Council formalised matters and approved proposals for controls and 
the regulation of street trading along with other non-commercial activities throughout 
the County Borough. Two years later on the 24th June 2009, Council resolved to 
extend the scheme further by expanding the licensed area to include Broad Street, 

Page 34



Three Salmon Street, High Street, Market Square, Graham Street, Victoria Street, 
Glebeland Street and John Street. The boundary was further extended by Council on 
the 18th June 2014 to cover the Pontmorlais area. The area now covered is coloured 
pink on the plan attached at Appendix 1. In addition to extending the tables & chairs 
area on the 18th June 2014 the Council also resolved the following:-

a. To adopt the conditions and guidance appended to the report.

b. To accept a yearly payment of £1400 be paid on the 1st June every year to the 
Council by the Big Heart of Merthyr Business Improvement District in lieu of 
individual application fees to site tables and chairs on the Highway in the area 
delineated in Appendix 1.

c. To delegate the power to amend conditions & guidance, review and if necessary 
vary the fees to the following officers in consultation with the Chair of the Licensing 
Committee:

i) The Corporate Director of Customer Services or
ii) The Public Protection and Housing Manager or
iii) The Trading Standards & Licensing Manager

d. To delegate the power to issue permits where the application is properly made and 
where there are no objections to:

i) Licensing Officers and/or
ii) The Trading Standards & Licensing Manager

e. To delegate the power to carry out any necessary enforcement in relation to the 
operation of the permits to:

i) Licensing Officers and/or
ii) Trading Standards Officers and/or
iii) The Trading Standards & Licensing Manager

4.0 THE STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

4.1 The original reports put to Council concerned proposals for controlling and regulating 
street trading and other non-commercial activities throughout the County Borough to 
include the current tables & chairs regulation scheme. The tables & chairs scheme is 
governed by Part VIIA of the Highways Act 1980 which is a Cabinet function and 
general street trading licencing/permissions is governed by Schedule 4 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 which is a Council Function. 
Council and Cabinet functions are defined by the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Functions and Responsibilities) (Wales) Regulations 2007. 
However, following a review of delegations it became apparent that when the 
proposals were considered separately subsequent reports dealing with tables & 
chairs continued to be put to Council for resolution e.g. the 2009 and the 2014 
reports mentioned earlier. 

5.0 NEXT STEPS

5.1 It is therefore necessary to correct the situation and seek Cabinet resolutions to 
adopt the resolutions referred to previously in paragraphs 3.1. 

Page 35



5.2 Resolution 3.1(c) needs to be amended to replace the reference to the Chair of 
Planning with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Public Protection. 

5.3 As the Licensing Sub Committee can no longer determine applications, an additional 
resolution is required to delegate the power to issue permits where there are 
objections/representations to the application to the Public Protection and Housing 
Manager or in his/her absence to the Trading Standards Licensing and School 
Transport Manager supported in both instances by a member of the authority’s legal 
team. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 There are no financial implications.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Full Council Report 18th June 2014 Council website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? Yes

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 36



APPENDIX 1

Page 37



            Appendix 2

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
(the Council)

Terms & Conditions for Permissions to Place 
Tables & Chairs on the Public Highway

1 GENERAL

1.1 The Permit must be displayed in a prominent position during the hours of trading. A definitive plan of the 
area governed by the permit, showing the boundaries and the dimensions will be attached to, and form 
part of, the permit.

1.2 The Permit Holder will ensure that items placed on the highway should not interfere with vehicle sight 
lines, pedestrian visibility, obstruct any traffic sign or signal, and not compromise any market operations.

1.3 All entrances and exits to any premises adjoining the Permit Area should not be obstructed by items 
placed on the highway. 

1.4 Emergency service vehicles must have access along the streets at all times, even in pedestrianised 
areas. 

1.5 The needs of other users of the highway should be taken into account and a clear pedestrian route must 
be maintained for those walking past the premises.  The safety of all pedestrians (particularly those that 
are mobility impaired) should not be affected by the placing of items on the highway.

1.6 The Permit Holder shall ensure that all tables and chairs and other equipment must be properly 
maintained and kept in a clean, tidy and safe condition at all times.

1.7 The Council will not permit any fixtures to the highway or any excavation of any kind of surface of the 
highway.

1.8 Every effort should be made to avoid causing damage to the highway or adjacent property. The cost of 
rectifying any damage to the highway surface or street furniture caused by any activity connected with 
the placing of tables and chairs on the highway may be recharged to the licence holder.

1.9 The Council will not permit any wheeled refuse containers, beer kegs, bottle crates or other unsightly or 
unapproved items to be placed on or adjacent to the street café area.

1.10 The Permit Holder will be required to indemnify the Council against all actions, claims, demands, costs, 
charges or expenses arising from using the highway under the permission granted. The Council will 
therefore, require the licensee to take out third party public liability insurance in the minimum sum of 
£5,000,000. 

1.11 The Council reserves the right from time to time to amend or vary the terms and conditions of the 
permission as it may consider reasonably necessary to ensure the smooth operation and success of the 
scheme. Provided always that at least 14 days prior written notice shall be given to all holders of 
Permits.

1.12 The Council shall be entitled to terminate the Permit in any of the following circumstances:
i. In the event the Permit Holder and/or their employees fail to comply in any way with the terms 

and conditions of the permit.
ii. In the event the Permit Holder fails to remedy any breaches of the terms and conditions of the 

permit or other default to the satisfaction of the Council and within the time period specified by 
the Council.

Page 38



iii. In the event of persistent and/or continuous breaches or defaults by the Permit Holder and/or 
their employees.

1.13 In event of a breach of the terms of the Permission, the Council may serve notice requiring the Permit 
Holder to take such steps as are necessary to remedy the breach as specified in the notice within a 
specified timescale. If the Permit Holder to whom the notice is served fails to comply with the notice, the 
Council may take the steps themselves. Where the Council have incurred expenses in taking the steps, 
these expenses together with a reasonable, administrative charge determined by the Council, may be 
recovered from the Permit Holder.

1.14 The Council shall charge for the grant of a permit at a level which shall be reviewed annually.

1.15 The Council may impose individual conditions on permits when deemed necessary for the safe 
operation of the tables and chairs scheme.

2 SERVICE

2.1 The Permit Holder shall be responsible for the satisfactory conduct of people within the permit area and 
ensure that the facilities are not operated in such a way as to cause nuisance or annoyance to 
owners/occupiers of adjoining premises and to all people using the public highway. 

2.2 The Permit Holder must ensure the permit area should be kept under supervision at all times of its 
operation and all patrons/customers should be seated at all times. 

2.3 The permit area is to be used only for the sale, provision and consumption of food and/or drink. 

2.4 The layout of the street furniture and means of enclosure must provide adequate access and circulation 
space for all customers.

2.5 The Permit Holder shall ensure that customers consuming food and/or drink in the permit area do not do 
so beyond the permit area.

2.6 No alcoholic drinks shall be consumed within the “permit area” unless the “permit area” is covered by a 
premises licence issued by the Council allowing the sale of alcohol. A “tables and chairs” permit does not 
of itself authorise the sale and consumption of alcohol; it is the responsibility of the Permit Holder to make 
a separate application under the Licensing Act 2003 to allow such activities to take place. 

2.7 All alcoholic drinks must be served in a polycarbonate/plastic receptacle; no cans or bottles are 
allowed.

3 HYGIENE & CLEANLINESS

3.1 The Permit Holder shall ensure that all tables must be cleared of all uneaten food, used crockery, cutlery, 
etc and properly cleaned of any spillage when they are vacated by customers.

3.2 The Permit Holder shall be responsible for the cleanliness of the permit area at all times. Care should be 
taken to ensure that litter does not stray or get blown further afield. 

3.3 The Permit Holder shall ensure that litter, grease, etc deposited in the permit area should be removed at 
regular intervals during the day. Spillages and breakages, especially of glass or crockery, must be cleared 
up immediately. Care must be taken to avoid nuisance to customers and to ensure hazards are not 
created during this work. The permit area should be thoroughly washed at the end of each trading day.

3.4 The Permit Holder shall ensure that at least one suitable litter bin must be provided within the permit area 
when in operation and make arrangements for its emptying in a proper manner. Wheelie bins are not 
suitable for this purpose.

Page 39



3.5 If smoking permitted the Permit Holder will ensure each table should be provided with an ashtray which 
should be emptied each time the table is cleared. 

3.6 Failure to comply with the cleaning requirements may result in the Council carrying out the work for which 
the Permit Holder will be charged.

4 HOURS OF OPERATION

4.1 The hours during which objects can be placed on the public highway are between 08:00 and 21:00. The 
Council reserves the right to restrict the hours of operation in pedestrianised areas to the hours when 
vehicle restrictions are in place.

4.2 The Council reserves the right to restrict hours or days of operation where interference with market 
operations is likely. No variation of the annual fee will be allowed where hours are so restricted.

4.3 The Council reserves the right to restrict the hours or days of operation where interference with Special 
Events are to take place. On such occasions affected permit holders will be provided with 7 days written 
notice.

4.4 The Permit Holder shall ensure that all furniture, partitions and litter receptacles are to be removed from 
the highway when trading is not taking place.

4.5 The Licensing Team and/or the Highways Maintenance Department of the Council are empowered to 
remove, store or subsequently dispose of any items and equipment left on the highway outside of 
permitted hours set out at 4.1 and 4.2 and charge the licence holder for the costs of removal, storage and 
disposal (if necessary). No responsibility is accepted for the safekeeping of any items and equipment 
recovered and stored.

4.6 The Licensing Team and/or the Highways Maintenance Department of the Council are empowered to 
remove, store or subsequently dispose of any unauthorised equipment/items from the area governed by 
the permit and charge the licence holder for the costs of removal, storage and disposal (if necessary). No 
responsibility is accepted for the safekeeping of any items and equipment recovered and stored.

4.7 Whenever requested by the South Wales Police, the Licensing Team or a statutory authority, the Permit 
Holder must remove items from the public highway as requested.

4.8 The granting of a licence to operate a table & chairs permit does not imply an exclusive right to the area. 
The Permit Holder should be aware that the Council reserves the right to gain access to the permit area 
for cleaning, repairing and maintaining the public highway or street furniture. Other organisations, and 
statutory bodies, may also require access for maintenance and repair of their equipment. 

4.9 The Council reserves the right to suspend the permit temporarily, if for any reason, it becomes necessary. 
In the event of a temporary suspension of less than three months, no refund of the permit fee will be 
made.

5 DESIGN SPECIFICATION

5.1 BOUNDARIES Furniture shall not be placed in any area, other than stated in the permission. 

The permit area is to be marked by a portable means of enclosure such as a barrier 
which should be of a sturdy structure, not less than 800mm high and not contain 
protruding parts. 

All activities associated with the café must be contained within the agreed boundary 
including all tables, chairs, parasols, barriers/fencing, etc.

5.2 FURNITURE Furniture should be of a high quality and uniform style. 

Only items of furniture approved in writing by the Council may be used. Approval must be 
obtained in advance.

Page 40



All tables and chairs should be manufactured from suitable quality materials, e.g. metal or 
wood. 

Parasols when opened should be safely secured and contained entirely within the 
boundaries of the permit area to ensure they do not cause an obstruction or present a 
danger to any user of the permit area or any other user of the public highway.

The Council reserves the right to reject applications where inappropriate furniture is 
proposed. 

The Permit Holder is responsible for the safety and suitability for the use of all items 
placed on the highway. They should ensure that they are sufficiently robust and well 
maintained for the purpose.

Page 41



APPENDIX 3

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Permissions to Place 
Tables and Chairs on the Public Highway

Guidance Notes

INTRODUCTION

Permissions to place tables and chairs on the highway are granted under Part VIIA of the Highways 
Act 1980. The scheme relates only to the establishment of tables and chairs on a public highway, 
(tables and chairs on private land do not require a permit).  Permissions for tables and chairs on the 
highway may only be issued to cafes, restaurants, public houses or other catering establishments 
that serve food and drink within the premises. 

This guide is intended to help businesses understand the permissions required from the Council 
and contains key points on how the applications will be assessed and how the permit scheme will 
operate.

DESIGNING THE PERMIT AREA

When planning and designing a permit area, applicants are advised to read this guidance and the 
terms and conditions of the scheme to ensure that the proposal meets all the criteria required. The 
Council does not wish to define a standard style of furniture for use in the permit areas, however all 
furniture must be of a high quality and uniform style. 

Full details including metric dimensions, materials and colours of the proposed furniture, 
accompanied by photographs, illustrations or drawings, will be required as part of the of the 
application. Only furniture approved in writing by the Council may be used. 

The Council reserves the right to reject applications where inappropriate furniture is proposed. 
However, the permit holder will be responsible for the safety and suitability of the furniture provided 
and ensuring that it is sufficiently robust and well maintained for the purpose.

Size and Layout The size and layout of a permit area will depend upon the characteristics of 
the site outside each premises, for example the space available, street 
furniture, type of premises, etc. 

The needs of other users of the highway should always be considered. The 
placing of tables and chairs on the highway will not be granted if it may 
cause an obstruction, nuisance or danger to pedestrians, trades people, 
adjacent businesses and/or the emergency services.

Care must also be taken to ensure that the furniture and means of enclosure 
used provides adequate access and circulation space for all customers 
including wheelchair users and those with pushchairs, etc.

Page 42



Emergency routes from your own and adjacent buildings must be kept clear 
at all times.

Tables & Chairs All tables and chairs must be uniform in style and manufactured from quality 
materials preferable metal or wood, for avoidance of doubt plastic patio 
chairs and table are not acceptable. 

Parasols Parasols may only be used in a permit area with prior written consent from 
the Council and when opened, they should be safely secured and contained 
entirely within the boundaries of the permit area. 

Boundaries/Partitions All permit areas must be clearly defined by a portable means of enclosure 
and all activities associated with the café must be contained within the 
agreed boundary.

Portable barriers/partitions must be stable and sturdy and not less than 800 
mm high or contain any protruding parts.

Other Items Only items that have been approved in writing may be placed in the permit 
area, this includes items such as bins and ‘A boards’. 

MANAGING A PERMIT AREA

Service
Customers must be able to purchase both food and drink at all times when the permit area is open. 
Food and drink must not be consumed outside of the defined permit area.

The permit area should be supervised when it is in use and the permit holder shall be responsible 
for ensuring that the facilities operate in a manner that do not cause nuisance or annoyance to 
adjoining premises or members of the public. 

Alcohol

No alcoholic drinks shall be consumed within the “permit area” unless the “permit area” is covered 
by a premises licence issued by the Council allowing the sale of alcohol.

The granting of a permit to place tables and chairs on the highway does not authorise the holder to 
serve alcoholic drinks or allow the consumption of alcohol in the “permit area” even if they hold a 
Premises Licence issued under the Licensing Act 2003.  An application would therefore be required 
to licence the “permit area” for the sale for alcohol. Applicants are advised to contact the Licensing 
Section for further information.

Where a permit area is licensed for the sale of alcohol please note that all drinks must be served in 
a polycarbonate/plastic, no bottles or cans are allowed.

Hygiene and cleanliness
When managing a permit area it is essential that particular regard is made to hygiene and 
cleanliness. On the application form you will be required to provide details of how you will maintain 
good standards of cleanliness within the permit area. 

The terms and conditions of the scheme contain specific requirements in relation to the 
management of litter, the frequency of cleaning and how spillages should be dealt with during the 

Page 43



operation of a permit area. These conditions include the requirement to keep the area free from 
litter, the provision of at least one litter bin, the clearing tables when they are vacated, removing 
spillages and breakages immediately and thoroughly washing the permit area at the end of each 
day.

Smoking
Where smoking is allowed in the permit area an ashtray must be provided on each table which must 
be emptied each time the table is cleared.

Hours of Operation
The maximum hours during which a permit may operate are Monday to Sunday between 8.00 a.m. 
and 9.00 p.m. The proposed hours of operation must be included on the application form. The 
Council reserves the right to stipulate the hours/days which a permit area can operate.

Applicants situated in the pedestrianised areas of the Town Centre are advised to take particular 
consideration to the vehicle access restrictions within the street the business is located. It may be 
necessary to restrict the opening hours when vehicle restrictions are not in place if it may cause an 
obstruction to the free flow of traffic or cause a risk to public safety.

All street furniture must be removed from the permit area when the permit is not in operation, failure 
to comply with this requirement may result in the Council removing, storing and disposing of any 
items left on the highway.

Market Days
If your premises is situated in Market Square, Graham Street or High Street permits for street 
trading may be restricted where interference with main market operations is likely. The main market 
currently operates on Tuesdays, Saturdays and two weeks leading up to Christmas Day, but can be 
subject to change.

APPLYING FOR A PERMIT

To apply for a permit to place Tables & Chairs on the Public Highway your premises must be 
located within the area covered by the permit scheme and be a café, restaurant, public house or 
other catering establishment that serves food and drink inside the premises. 

All applications are required to meet the minimum requirements set out in the terms and conditions 
of the scheme.

To make an application you must be over 18 years old, and submit the following to the Licensing 
Section:

 An application form
 A plan of the proposed area
 Photographs and/or pictures of the proposed furniture
 Public Liability Insurance to the value of £5,000,000
 The required fee

Once a complete application has been accepted by the Licensing Section a 28 day statutory 
consultation period begins, whereby a notice must be placed at the premises, and a copy of the 
application will be sent to the following individuals/bodies seeking their consent/objection:

 Environmental Health Manager
 Highways Network Group Manager
 Head of Town Planning
 Town Centre Manager

Page 44



 South Wales Police
 South Wales Fire Service
 Owners/Occupiers of premises to be materially affected by the application

Where an application meets the minimum requirements set out the scheme’s terms and conditions 
and no objections are received in respect of the application, the licence will be granted for a period 
of 12 months. 

The Council may impose individual conditions where it is deemed necessary for the safe operation 
on the permit scheme.

Where objections are received in respect of the application, the application will be determined by 
the Licensing Sub Committee. There is no right of appeal against a refusal of an application to place 
tables and chairs on the highway.

Plans
All plans should be drawn to a scale of 1:100 unless otherwise agreed by the Licensing Section and 
must contain the following details:

1. The existing footway in metres.
2. The dimensions of the proposed area.
3. Location of shop entrances, exits and fire escapes.
4. The location of all existing street furniture.
5. How and where the area will be partitioned off.

Owners/Occupiers of premises to be materially affected by the application
An owner/occupier of a premises to be materially affected by the application would be classed as a 
‘frontager’.  A ‘frontager’ is defined in section 115A 7(7) of Part VIIA of the Highways Act 1980 and 
is the owners and occupier of the affected premises. 

The diagram below illustrates which premises would be defined as frontagers in relation to a permit 
area:-

Site A
Site B

Site C

Frontage
r

Frontager
s

Frontager
s

Frontager
s

Centre Line

Page 45



RENEWAL APPLICATIONS

A permit for placing tables and chairs on the highway will be issued for 12 months, if the permit 
holder wishes to renew their permit they will be required to submit to the Licensing Section a 
complete application at least 1 month prior to the expiry date of the existing permit, along with the 
renewal fee. 

Once a renewal application has been accepted by the Licensing Section the permit holder will be 
able to continue operating on the public highway until the application has been granted/refused.

Where a renewal application is not received before the expiry of the current permit a new 
application will be required and tables and chairs will no longer be able to place tables and chairs on 
the highway until the new application is granted.

All renewal applications will be required to follow the same statutory consultation process as new 
applications. Please note the granting of a licence does not give an automatic right of renewal in 
subsequent years, failure to comply with the conditions of the permit may result in future 
applications being refused.

FEES

The fee for processing an application for placing tables and chairs on the highway is payable on 
application:

New/Renewal Application £100
Transfer £20

or such other fee as is agreed with the Council

GENERAL INFORMATION

The terms and conditions of the scheme will be attached to the permit along with the plan of the 
area. The permit holder is responsible for ensuring that the permit is displayed in a prominent 
positions at all times during trading.

Permits issued by the Council for Placing Tables and Chairs on the Public Highway are not 
transferable to any other person unless with the express permission of the Council.

The granting of a permit does not imply exclusive right to use the area, the Council and other 
statutory bodies may gain access to the permit area for cleaning, repairing and maintenance. Also 
where requested to do so by South Wales Police, the Licensing Section or any Statutory Authority, 
the permit holder must remove items from the highway.

Other Permissions
The granting of a Permit does not over ride any statute, by-law or regulations such as parking, food 
hygiene, planning, etc. The permit holder is responsible for obtaining all the relevant permission 
necessary to operate their business.

INSPECTION, MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT

The Licensing Section will carry out periodic inspections to make sure that the terms and conditions 
of the licence are being adhered to. The Council may carry out work for which the permit holder will 
be charged, suspend or terminate or refuse to renew a permit if the holder fails to comply with the 
scheme. 

Page 46



Tables and chairs placed on the highway without permission are an illegal obstruction and 
the Council may take enforcement action in such cases.

CONTACT INFORMATION
For further information on how to submit an application please contact the Licensing Section on:

LICENSING SECTION
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Tel: 01685 725000

Email: licensing@merthyr.gov.uk

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Aspire Project - Shared Apprenticeship 
Programme (SAP)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Apprenticeships are a flagship Welsh Government programme and a key way for 
young people to earn a wage whilst working alongside experienced staff to gain job 
specific skills and knowledge.

 
1.2 Most recently inward investors namely Loadlok, Tenneco Walker, EFS  have 

highlighted a need to provide opportunities for young people through an 
apprenticeship programme which will create opportunities and will enable 
unemployment to be reduced in the area.  

1.3 The Welsh Government has supported Aspire Blaenau Gwent hosted by Blaenau 
Gwent County Borough Council on a successful Shared Apprenticeship Programme 
for the past 3 years and has made a recommendation to support for a further 2 
years.  

1.4 The programme has enhanced skills development within the manufacturing and 
engineering companies to develop business growth; whilst tackling unemployment 
and providing aspirational opportunities for young people across the local authority.

1.5 Aspire Blaenau Gwent in collaboration with Welsh Government identified Merthyr 
Tydfil as a possible area of strategic importance with development opportunities 
linked to the currently developed Aspire programme. The Aspire Merthyr Tydfil 
Programme has been working closely with its partners in Blaenau Gwent and 
Merthyr College to ensure opportunities are maximised for the people of Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Date Written 8th November 2017 **
Report Author Jared Green/Chris Long
Service Area Economic Development
Committee Division Cabinet 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



1.6 With the opportunities present within Merthyr Tydfil, the shared apprenticeship 
programme will seek to capitalise upon these prospects and supply a skilled 
workforce through a partnership with Merthyr College.

1.7 Based on the current success of Aspire Blaenau Gwent, Welsh Government has 
enabled Merthyr Tydfil CBC to participate in a roll out of the model.  A series of 
development meetings in July 2017 took place and a proposal was developed for 
consideration that replicated the Blaenau Gwent Model.

1.8 Management of the Programme will be the responsibility of Merthyr Tydfil CBC with 
a direct grant from B-WBL, Pembrokeshire College (as the lead consortia) via Welsh 
Government.

1.9 To support the delivery of the project, Merthyr Tydfil CBC has appointed a 
Programme Coordinator and an Employment Liaison/Mentoring Officer. As the 
programme progresses the Aspire MT programme will aim to employ an 
Administration Officer on a part time basis.  Full costs for these posts will be covered 
through the grant received to administer the project to the value of £131,457 for a 
period of 1 year. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Approve the participation in the Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme in 
partnership with Blaenau Gwent CBC and Merthyr College. Cabinet to support and 
approve the Financial Agreement between B-WBL-Pembrokeshire College, MTCBC 
and Welsh Government in order to deliver the project to the value of £131,457.

2.2 Approve the delivery structure of the programme as outlined in 5.0 be approved.

2.3  Approve a contribution of £4002 over the period September 2017 – August 2018 
towards the programme costs as a match funding. The finance has been identified 
within existing Economic Development budgets.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Apprenticeships are a flagship Welsh Government programme and a key way for 
young people to earn a wage whilst working alongside experienced staff to gain job 
specific skills and knowledge. 

3.2 Welsh Government has identified 9 key sectors for investment and support in Wales. 
One of which, Advanced Manufacturing, is seen as a key driver and employer for the 
Welsh economy.

3.3 Apprenticeships could play a significant role in reducing unemployment in Merthyr 
Tydfil, which currently stands at 6.4% (NOMIS Jan16 – Dec 16). The Local Authority 
has a high level priority to tackling poverty through improving employment pathways. 
The partnership, with local employers, is a key way to address Welsh Government’s 
requirement for co-investment in meeting training needs

Page 52



3.4 A current skills gap within the Advanced Manufacturing Sector (AMS) has been 
identified through an independent survey which was conducted by UHOVI 
(Universities Heads of the Valleys Institute). It demonstrated that there is a 
significant skills gap of Level 3 or above in AMS.

3.5 Local inward investors namely Loadlok and Tenneco Walker have highlighted a need 
to provide opportunities for young people through an apprenticeship programme 
which will create opportunities and will enable unemployment to be reduced in the 
area.  

3.6 Research conducted on behalf of SEMTA (Science, Engineering and Manufacturing 
Technologies Alliance) by Miller Research (2015) stated local companies are not 
providing apprenticeships, the most prominent reason for not doing so was the size 
of the business and the cost of providing apprenticeships. This project aims to 
support business growth in particular with SME / Social Enterprises and enhance 
skills within the manufacturing labour market

3.7 The Welsh Government has supported Aspire Blaenau Gwent hosted by Blaenau 
Gwent County Borough Council on a successful Shared Apprenticeship Programme 
for the past 3 years and has made a recommendation to support for a further 2 
years.  Aspire Blaenau Gwent has a number of partners including Ebbw Vale 
Enterprise Zone, Education, Industry and Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council. 
The project has been identified as a mechanism for addressing both existing 
indigenous employer skills needs and those of any new inward investor which the 
local authority hopes to attract to the area.

3.8 The programme has enhanced skills development within the manufacturing and 
engineering companies to develop business growth; whilst tackling unemployment 
and providing aspirational opportunities for young people across the local authority.

3.9 To date there are some excellent outcomes within the current delivery within 
Blaenau Gwent which has resulted in the employment of 37 apprentices, which are 
placed within Manufacturing companies throughout  Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough, and being supported by its delivery partners. Within the programme 
delivery there are a range of Learning Pathways from engineering, science, IT and 
Commercial routes.

3.10 Aspire Blaenau Gwent has developed the reputation as being a vehicle for providing 
aspirational opportunities for young people within its Local Authority and the 
programme complements existing provision, not displacing directly employed 
apprenticeships. 

3.11 From a Merthyr Tydfil CBC perspective, in terms of the recent influx of inward 
investors to Merthyr Tydfil i.e. Tennaco Walker, and existing businesses such as 
Design and Supply, MTIB, Mayphil etc.; Aspire Blaenau Gwent in collaboration with 
Welsh Government identified Merthyr Tydfil as an area of strategic importance with 
development opportunities linked to the currently developed Aspire programme. With 
the opportunities present within Merthyr Tydfil, the shared apprenticeship 
programme has begun to capitalise upon these prospects and supply a skilled 

Page 53



workforce through a partnership with Merthyr College. MTCBC is now in 
collaboration to participate in the Aspire Programme in partnership with Blaenau 
Gwent CBC and Merthyr College.

4.0 PROJECT DEVELOPMENT STAGES 

4.1 Based on the current success of Aspire Blaenau Gwent, Welsh Government has 
enabled Merthyr Tydfil CBC to participate in a roll out of the model.  A series of 
development meetings in July 2017 took place and a proposal was developed for 
consideration that replicated the Blaenau Gwent Model. This was approved and 
current delivery of the programme is underway.

4.2 Management of the Programme is the responsibility of Merthyr Tydfil CBC with a 
direct grant from B-WBL, Pembrokeshire College (as the lead consortia) via Welsh 
Government.

4.3 To support the delivery of the project, Merthyr Tydfil CBC has assigned a 
Programme Coordinator and an Employment Liaison/Mentoring Officer. As the 
programme progresses the Aspire MT programme will aim to employ an 
Administration Officer on a part time basis.  Full costs for these posts will be covered 
through the grant received to administer the project.

4.4 To support the delivery of the SAP (Shared Apprenticeship Programme), Merthyr 
College has pledged its support and will act as the lead provider to deliver on the 
learning framework.

4.5 A joint Local Authority Steering Group has been established that includes a 
representative role from each local authority, together with project partner 
representation. Private sector involvement is imperative to ensure private sector 
cross regional working. The Steering Group will provide a platform for sharing the 
learning and development expertise across the areas/region.   

4.6 The SAP will provide an opportunity for employers to take on apprenticeships 
facilitated and supported by the Programme Management Team who will in turn:

 Coordinate and manage the recruitment and employment of the apprentice 
 Promote the opportunity of the SAP to SME’s, demonstrating the benefits to 

business of sharing the resource over a period of time, thus increasing 
business capacity and potentially full time employment opportunities, where 
traditional programmes have failed when funding has expired. 

 Develop partnerships with local training providers, colleges and universities to 
provide additional skills and training within the learning pathways. 

 Engage with schools to promote recruitment of apprenticeships for the sector, 
demonstrating the proposed pathway as being a viable career opportunity, 
raising aspirations with both male/females and fulfilling the local strategy to 
engage and reduce NEETS within the 16-24 age cohorts although this is an 
‘all age’ apprenticeship opportunity.  

Page 54



5.0 OPERATIONAL DELIVERY

5.1 The apprenticeship applicants will go through a competitive selection process and 
will be placed within environments to promote a strong desire to succeed. The 
recruitment process will be led by the Aspire MT team who will engage with all 
businesses to develop the selection criteria, in turn matching and ensuring all needs 
are met. 

5.2 The Shared Apprentices will be given greater opportunities during their programme 
of learning and will benefit from a wider range of skills and training through the 
collaborative partnerships that will be brokered.

5.3 The Aspire Merthyr Tydfil Apprentices will be placed with a host manufacturing / 
engineering company for the duration of the apprenticeship (2-4 years).

5.4 Apprentices will follow a structured programme based with a host employer; however 
they will rotate to participating companies that are suitably matched to develop and 
fulfil any potential skills gaps. 

5.5 Merthyr College will deliver the programme of learning to the Apprentices via an 
individual learning pathway, which will be agreed by the Host Company. If the 
desired learning pathway is unachievable within the constraints of Merthyr College, 
an SLA with another college I.e. Coleg Y Cymoedd will be developed to satisfy the 
learning pathway needs.

5.6 The Shared Apprentices will be employed by Merthyr Tydfil CBC and will be paid 
above national minimum wage.  Their employment will include all elements of 
associated responsibilities i.e. HR function, Payroll, Council policies etc. Once the 
apprentice employee is paid via submission of an agreed timesheet, the Local 
Authority will invoice the Host Employer for the associated salary costs.

5.7 All relevant supporting departments will be able to claim all associated costs from the 
Welsh Government funding, which are attributed to the Aspire Programme via B-
WBL.

5.8 In relation to the Host, there will be a significant benefit to having this support 
mechanism in place with the Local Authority.  At the end of the SAP, businesses are 
expected to appoint their apprentice, thus adding a fully trained member to their 
workforce. Welsh Government expects 90% of the cohort of apprentices to be 
employed at the end of the SAP.  

5.9 Host Employers will only be encouraged to participate if they have a realistic 
expectation of offering permanent positions at the end of the programme 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 Welsh Government have offered MTCBC a grant allocation via B-WBL 
Pembrokeshire College to the value of £131,457.00. The residual balance will be a 
contribution from Coleg Merthyr Tydfil of £5,000 and £4002.00 from Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council identified within existing Economic Development budgets.

Page 55



7.0 PROJECT OUTPUTS 

7.1 10-15 apprentices to be engaged on programme per year within MTCBC.

7.2 To seek to engage with at least 20 participating companies to secure opportunities 
for the apprentices’ to develop work based skills and employment.

7.3 To have a 90% achievement completion rate of those entering the programme and 
90% + in full time employment on exit from the programme.

7.4      To ensure 20% would progress to a higher all age apprenticeship.

7.5 To encourage companies to take on apprentices and in some cases more than what 
they would under the traditional route.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the                       
purpose of this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not                      
required at this time.  The form can be accessed on the Council’s                       
website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITY 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 56



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Changes to Fees for the Registration Service 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In 2017 the Registration Service was the subject of an outcome focused review that 
led to the service being operated over 4 days rather than 5.

1.2 In conjunction with the appointment of a new Superintendent Registrar; meetings 
with other registration services and the drive to make savings discussions continue 
around service reconfiguration, improvements, efficiencies and income generation.

1.3 The recommendations within this report reflect those ongoing discussions.     

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 It is agreed with immediate effect to the introduction of a non – refundable payment 
calculated at 50% of the fee for a ceremony when new bookings are taken for 
marriages/civil partnerships.

2.2 It is agreed to introduce with immediate effect a private citizenship ceremony for 
those not wishing to wait for a group citizenship ceremony.

2.3 It is agreed to the introduction of a fee of £50 to conduct a private ceremony.  

2.4 It is agreed to the introduction of a fee of £10 for every extra new citizen from the 
same family at the same private citizenship ceremony.

Date Written 10th November 2017 **
Report Author Steve Peters
Service Area Registration Service 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



2.5 It is agreed to stop offering ‘next day’ certificates which we currently charge £15 for 
and only offer same day certificates at £20.

 
2.6 Subject to General Register Office (GRO) approval it is agreed to licence a room at 

the Register Office from the 1st April 2018 so the statutory ceremony and associated 
fee of £50 can be performed in a smaller room restricting attendance to the minimum 
that is statutorily required to the two parties to the marriage/civil partnership and two 
witnesses).  

2.7 From the 1st April 2018 and subject to General Register Office (GRO) approval it is 
agreed to introduce the following fees for marriages/civil partnerships conducted at 
the Register Office for up to a maximum of 20 guests with a fee structure of Monday 
- £134 (excludes Bank Holiday); Tuesday to Thursday - £104; Friday £114; Saturday 
- £134 and Sunday £149 (includes Bank Holidays).

 
2.8 A review of the impact of the introduction of such fees be conducted by the Service 

following a 12 month period from the introduction of any new fee.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Within the Registration Service there are statutory fees set within legislation but there 
are also services provided where the local authority can levy fees.

3.2 A review of bookings taken and whether those bookings result in marriage/civil 
partnerships actually taking place has identified that there are a number through the 
year that do not. Bookings secure the services of registration staff to undertake the 
ceremonies for a particular day and when the ceremony takes place at the Register 
Office the booking secures the appropriate room.  

3.3 Where ceremonies take place the Service collects the relevant fees. However 
cancelled arrangements cost the authority in terms of the time spent in the 
administration of the booking and a loss of income. Currently when cancelled, the 
ceremony does not take place and the associated fees of conducting ceremonies are 
not collected. 

3.4 The result is wasted staff time on administration for registration staff. There is an 
administration cost of taking the booking; advising on legal procedures and 
processes; following up the booking and cancelling the booking. There is a loss of 
income to the Authority. There is currently no provision to mitigate or recover the 
costs incurred.

3.5 The recommendation in 2.1 is designed to cover the registration service 
administrative costs and loss of income where a booking is made but the ceremony 
does not go ahead. It is proposed that a non-refundable payment will be taken at the 
time of the booking calculated at 50% of the ceremony fee. Ceremony fees vary 
according to the day of the week and the venue. If the ceremony goes ahead the 
refundable down payment will be included in the fee i.e. only the outstanding balance 
will need to be paid. In accordance with our financial regulations that require services 
to be paid for prior to the service being provided customers will be required to pay 

Page 58



any outstanding balance at least 30 days before the ceremony or they will not be 
provided with a Service. 

3.6 Since customers can choose a ceremony elsewhere the review after 12 months is to 
assess the impact of the introduction of the payment on the number of ceremonies 
conducted and the level of income.  

3.7 It is hoped that a consequence of the introduction of the payment will be that anyone 
booking registration staff and/or a room at the Register Office will reflect on the down 
payment therefore reducing the incidences of bookings where clients cancel. This in 
turn will hopefully increase the availability of days for those that are genuinely 
committed to a particular day.

3.8 The Home Office refer individuals to registration services to undertake citizenship 
ceremonies. We currently conduct group citizenship ceremonies. Due to low demand 
we make arrangements for such ceremonies 2-3 times per year in order to secure 
sufficient numbers. 

3.9 Individuals do express a wish to undertake the ceremony before the next planned 
group ceremony. The recommendation in 2.2 is to introduce private citizenship 
ceremonies at the Register Office for those not wanting to wait for a group 
citizenship ceremony. The recommendation in 2.3 is to cover additional family 
members as part of the same ceremony. 

3.10 The level of the fee for citizenship ceremonies has been identified as a result of 
benchmarking with other registration service fees 

3.11 The fee for certificates is set in legislation and registration services are required to 
provide certificates within 3 working days. The statutory fee is £10. Where the 
requestor makes a request to receive a certificate earlier than the 3 days, in addition 
to the statutory requirement, we currently charge £15 for next day. The proposal in 
recommendation 2.5 is to stop offering ‘next day’ certificates and only offer same day 
certificates at £20. This will include production of the certificate the same day of 
request for collection or posting out the same day. 

3.12 The statutory fee for the registration service to conduct a wedding/Civil Partnership 
ceremony is £50. The minimum requirement for such a ceremony is the two parties 
to the marriage/( Civil Partnership) and two witnesses together with two registration 
staff. A maximum of 6 in total. 

3.13 We currently offer a statutory ceremony in a room that can take up to 20 guests plus 
the 2 registration staff required. 

3.14 We have another room at the Register Office that whilst still being able to fulfil the 
requirements of a statutory ceremony is only capable of accommodating 6 people 
and no more. 

3.15 The recommendation in 2.6 is proposing licensing the room referred to in 3.14 at the 
Register Office so that the statutory fee (£50) ceremony could be performed in that 
room i.e. only the two parties to the marriage and two witnesses) could attend. 

Page 59



3.16 Clients who wish to have a greater number of guests can either then request a room 
that caters for up to 20 guests (our current statutory room) for which the authority can 
then levy a fee or use our largest room that can accommodate 66 guests. The use of 
our largest room accommodating 66 guests is well established and a fee structure 
around the use of that room is in place. 

3.17 Recommendation 2.7 is in relation to changing the use of the room that can 
accommodate up to 20 guests and levying the fee as indicated. 

4.0 GENERAL REGISTER OFFICE

4.1 Reconfiguration of the rooms as proposed in recommendation in 2.6 and 2.7 is 
subject to General Register Office (GRO) approval. GRO is the government agency 
that oversees the delivery of local registration schemes within the UK.
  

4.2 The GRO approve rooms/premises and charge a fee.  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 It is difficult to anticipate how customers may alter their behaviour when faced with 
the changes proposed within this report.  It is therefore proposed the impact be 
monitored on a quarterly basis and a review be conducted following a period of 12 
months from the introduction of any new fees to assess the impact on income and 
the number of ceremonies undertaken. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 60



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

The Orbit Business Centre

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report provides an update on the Orbit Business Centre and its developments in
            relation to continued flexibility, the Centres successes to date and its wider 

connectivity to Enterprise and Economic Growth since the acquisition in 2016.

1.2 The report draws reference and re affirms the option detailed at 5.2 that was 
previously approved to determine the future direction of the facility

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 To allow flexibility for internal departments to reside at the Orbit Business Centre, 
subject to business. 

2.2 The letting of meeting rooms RF03, RG01 and RG04, subject to interest and no 
adverse effects on letting of other units be approved.

2.3 The extended letting term for RF31 and RF24 from one year term to a maximum of 
five year term be approved.

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Orbit Business Centre was constructed in 2009 as part of a Joint Venture 
between the MTCBC and Welsh Government with the intention of providing an 
innovation centre for start-ups and incubation companies with supporting 
administration and business focused training centre for business in early stage 

Date Written 27th November 2017
Report Author Chris Long 
Service Area Place and Transformation
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



development. The substantial share of the development/construction costs were 
borne by the Welsh Government and the Welsh European Funding Office.

3.2 The Centre provides the following facilities and services:

 Serviced offices for start-up businesses
 Serviced offices for large organisations
 Hot-desk facilities
 Large conferencing facilities
 Training room facilities
 Dedicates IT Suite
 Executive board rooms
 Car Parking

3.3 The Centre is modern and probably the highest quality office building in Merthyr 
Tydfil and it provides the most attractive proposition for those seeking office 
accommodation in Merthyr Tydfil.

3.4 The Centre ran almost continuously at a loss due to the requirements of the JV 
letting criteria which limited the market for occupiers to start ups or new business to 
Wales. 

3.5 The JV at the expiration of five years provided a mechanism for termination one of 
which was the opportunity to purchase the WG’s interest at market value. The 
Council bought out WG for £512,240 in June 2016 on an unrestricted basis in order 
to take control and de-risk the asset due to the possible ongoing restrictions and 
liabilities.

4.0 THE CURRENT SITUATION

4.1 Following purchase of the building, an options consideration was provided by 
Economic Development for the continued holding of the Centre by the Council and 
Cabinet approved the retention of the Centre on the basis of it being a  required 
option.

4.2 As a result of the options consideration, the chosen option approved by 
Cabinet/Council was;

 Option 2 - Continue to operate as a Business Development Centre utilising 
amended, more flexible letting criteria

4.3 As a result of this option a more flexible letting criteria was proposed, which allowed 
for greater flexibility whilst still meeting the overall objectives of the property. A new   
lettings criteria was been produced and essentially provides for:

 Flexibility around the status of occupiers – less rigidity between incubator and 
non-incubator units.

 An initial term of up to 5 years with a discretionary 3 years term for incubator 
accelerator space.

Page 62



 Continued monitoring of occupation by the Management Team, including 
Economic Development, Estates and Accountancy.

4.4 However, following further developments and asset management considerations the 
Property is let on an “open market” basis to attract anyone in order to ensure the 
Centre is sustainable. In order to attract new tenants and provide flexibility, offices 
are being let on terms expiring on 30.04.2022 with annual break options, subject to 
penalties and inclusive rents ([heating, repairs etc.) with utilities being separately 
invoiced. Rates/NNDR remain the responsibility of the occupiers.

4.5 As part of the asset management initiatives a first floor office was 
refurbished/subdivided into some five smaller offices – to encourage occupancy and 
reduce rates/NNDR liabilities and two meeting rooms were let on a short term basis 
and subsequently renewed until 30.04.2022. 

4.6 In addition availability of grant funding was used to move some Economic 
Development Teams into the refurbished offices which provided valuable income.

4.7 Following the change from the JV the Property is now more occupied with some 
offices remaining to be let, some of which have already been occupied.

4.8 In order to regularise matters it is necessary to validate the current situation 
regarding the occupation by Council staff, commercial lettings and reduced or 
absence of incubator companies. The majority of occupiers are established 
companies and are attracted to the Centre by the facilities, particularly free parking 
and the Business support offered within the centre and included in the rent such as 
limited hours free meeting rooms. Major PLC occupiers that have been attracted to 
the Centre since the JV change include Wolesley (Burdens) and Balfour Beatty. 
Otherwise the occupiers are a mix of local and regional occupiers such as 
accountants, training companies and other professional sectors.

4.9 When fully occupied, excluding the conference and meeting rooms/income the gross 
and maximum rental income achievable would be in the order of £250,000 pa 
(current rental income £201,000). The figures provided are gross figures as these 
rents are inclusive of various costs to the landlord. The conference rooms and 
meeting/training rooms provide additional income. 

5.0 OPERATIONS AT THE ORBIT BUSINESS CENTRE

5.1 The Building currently hosts 22 occupiers consist of 15 businesses and projected 
contracted rental income for 17/18 is currently ca £201k pa (185k pa excluding 
MTCBC income).  Projected contracted rental income for 18/19 is £209k pa.

5.2 Currently there are 218 direct jobs associated to the tenants at the Centre and 553 
jobs off site of which 300 locally on a weekly basis

5.3 In terms of Orbits wider connectivity, as part of the emerging Economic Growth Plan, 
enterprise developments and specifically the Orbit Centre are the catalyst for the 
property component within the plan. 

Page 63



5.4 Within the Economic Growth Plan,the Enterprise property component offer the full 
spectrum of facilities provided through numerous buildings i.e. initial start-up, Merthyr 
Tydfil Enterprise Centre (MTEC) building, natural progression then being provided by 
the Orbit Business Centre, grow-on and economic accelerator then being provided 
by the emerging YMCA building and seconded by future enterprise developments 
within Cyfarthfa Castle. In addition to these main buildings, we are exploring the 
potential of satellite/outreach facilities in communities throughout the County 
Borough.

6.0 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

6.1 As detailed in 4.2 the Centre is now utilising a more flexible letting criteria which is 
resulting in additional income to the Centre. 

6.2 Further flexibility is now required in terms of the future sustainability and success for 
the Centre. The recommendation being the existing air conditioned meeting rooms 
RG01 and RG04 be available for future tenancy agreements, after a short term/one 
year trial period. RF24 and RF31 to be available for general letting (currently one 
year terms have been extended to 30.04.2022) Any restriction on incubation be 
removed entirely .In addition internal departments to occupy office space based on 
individual business case. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 At half year the Centre shows it will operate full cost recovery by end of financial 
year.

7.2 The financial performance to date is better than it was under the JV.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITY 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 64



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Winter Night Shelter 2017-18 & National Rough 
Sleeper Count 2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 MTCBC is providing premises, namely the former bus station office in the town 
centre, for the provision of temporary winter night shelter. The provision will be run 
by volunteers to accommodate homeless persons in the coldest winter months.

1.2 The shelter is likely to run from 3rd January 2018 until mid-March 2018. The opening 
dates are determined by the availability of volunteers and not are dictated by the 
Council.

1.3 Eight individuals were found to be rough sleeping on the national rough sleeper night 
count undertaken on the 9th/10th November 2018 in Merthyr Tydfil.

1.4 The Winter Night Shelter is an excellent example of how the Council can work 
closely with our voluntary and third sector partners, to harness the overwhelming 
good will of local residents, to provide practical interventions and essential services 
to some of the most vulnerable citizens in the County Borough.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

2.1 There is no statutory duty for the Council to provide cold weather provision for 
homeless persons, however, as in previous years, the Council’s Housing Solutions 
Team are working very closely with a group of volunteers to provide a winter night 
shelter again this year.

Date Written 30th November 2017
Report Author Julian Pike
Service Area Housing & Community Safety
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



2.2 Upstairs in the bus station (which is MTCBC owned) is the chosen location for this 
year’s shelter. Sourcing a suitable location proves very difficult and time consuming 
each year due to some public misconception about how the shelter operates. 
Residential areas are therefore seen as more problematic to host the shelter. 
Furthermore the Volunteer group prefer a town centre location to avoid the necessity 
to transport residents to and from the shelter.

2.3 The opening times and dates of the shelter are likely to be as follows:
Opening date – 3rd January 2017 until mid-March 2017
Opening Hours - 6pm doors open. 8pm doors close. 8am doors reopen to allow 

occupants to leave. The shelter is not occupied during the day.

2.4 The Council is responsible for sourcing the premises, arranging planning and 
building control approval and providing some basic equipment (where required). 
Access to the shelter must be made via referral to the Housing Solutions Team, who 
will attempt to carry out some background checks on the proposed occupant – to 
mitigate any risks to volunteers and other residents in the shelter. Where officers 
deem a proposed resident as too high risk – access is denied.

2.5 The Volunteer Group is responsible for ‘staffing’ the shelter with sufficient cover for 
their proposed 3 shift system per session. The volunteer Group determine the 
opening date of the shelter, which currently stands as 3rd January 2018. The start 
date is largely determined by the difficulty of recruiting volunteers over the Christmas 
and New Year period.

2.6 The Volunteer Group will provide pre-cooked hot food and drinks in the evening. 
Cooked breakfast will be available to all residents of the night shelter in the café 
below the night shelter. The cost of providing said breakfasts is typically funded 
through donations collected throughout the year by local interest groups and 
volunteers, such as the local Donation Station (and others).

2.7 It is expected that the maximum occupancy will be circa 10 persons per night – this 
is determined as a ‘safe’ number of residents which the volunteers can monitor. It is 
also an appropriate number for insurance purposes. The lead Church organisations 
are responsible for taking out the appropriate insurance cover for their volunteers 
and residents.

2.8 Between the hours of 22.00 and 02.00 of the 9th/10th November 2017 – 7 staff from 
the Housing Solutions Team accompanied by 2 Police Officers undertook the 
national rough sleeper night count.

2.9 Based upon local intelligence over 13 known sites were visited in the northern end of 
the valley, the majority were in very close proximity to the town centre. 

2.10 Eight individuals were found rough sleeping. All eight persons were known to 
housing officers. Their locations were as follows:

 7nr at former St Tydfil’s Hospital Site;
 1nr at the rear of a shop in the town centre

Page 68



2.11 The suspected reason why the night shelter will accommodate circa 10 individuals 
when only 8 were found on the night count, is that many single persons ‘sofa surf’ at 
their friend’s homes in the adverse weather and colder months. The night shelter is 
often seen as a form of respite for such arrangements, with many returning to their 
friend’s homes when the shelter closes.

3.0 LAST YEAR’S DATA

3.1 24 persons accessed the WNS in 2016-17, 3 persons were refused access on the 
grounds of risk to themselves or others and 7 persons were referred but did not 
attend the WNS.

3.2 Advice and assistance from the Housing Solutions Team was offered to all asking for 
a night shelter referral but only a small number actually consented to complete a full 
homelessness presentation.

3.3 Amongst the reasons for an applicant requesting a referral were; recent eviction from 
their home, family or relationship breakdowns, mental health issues, offending 
history and we included single persons that were excluded from the Common 
Housing Register due to a documented history of rent arrears, anti-social behaviour 
or high drug or alcohol dependency.

3.4 A designated venue allowed targeted support to be delivered direct to the residents 
at the night shelter – for example, Drug-Aid did an evening advice session and local 
charities were able to deliver goods requested by both residents and volunteers.

3.5 Only a few of the residents in 2016/17 had been resident in the 2015/16 night 
shelter.

3.6 In terms of the rough sleeper counts over recent years: in 2015 only 2 individuals 
were found, in 2016 – 4 individuals and in the 2017 count – 8 individuals. 

3.7 At a recent Homelessness Event held by the Council at the Orbit, local volunteers 
suggested that a further 4 rough sleepers may have been sleeping out on the night 
of the count, however Welsh Government guidance on how to conduct the count, 
stipulates that only those seen, can be counted. The official figure was therefore 8 
persons.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 MTCBC shall fund the Planning Application fee, and the requisite safety checks and 
fire safety requirements etc…and the provision of some basic equipment. The total 
cost is likely to be less than £2,000.

4.2 The Volunteer Group shall provide beds, sleeping blankets, food and drink and other 
basic supplies as required. Most of this is donated by individuals or local 
organisations wishing to contribute. 

Page 69



5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER- COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

CLLR G THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

NONE

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 70



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen

PETITION – PEDESTRIAN CROSSING, GURNOS 
ROAD

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide Cabinet with the findings following the petition received with regards to a 
Pedestrian Crossing in the Gurnos.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 A Petition was received from residents asking this Authority to consider having a 
pedestrian crossing in the Gurnos.

2.2 Officers in the Engineering Department have visited the location and carried out 
surveys to determine pedestrian usage in the vicinity of the schools. 

2.3 It is considered a number of uncontrolled pedestrian crossing points in the vicinity of 
Gurnos Road roundabout splitter islands, Gurnos Road leading to Maple Close and 
the top of Ash Crescent could be introduced to assist pedestrians crossing these 
roads. 

2.4 Funding is required for these measures to be introduced. A scheme to provide these 
crossing points will be prioritised alongside other requested Traffic Management 
Schemes in the County Borough for future consideration.

2.5 The School Crossing patrol position was removed following an assessment 
undertaken at the location using the School Crossing Patrol Guidelines and the 
subsequent retirement of the patrol in August 2011. This position will be 
reconsidered using this same process.

Date Written 2nd November 2017 **
Report Author Martin Stark
Service Area Place and Transformation 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

3.1 There are no financial implications to this Authority at present.

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING & COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 72



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 To 2021/22 - Update December 2017
	4 Review Of Peripheral And Agency Workers
	5 Delegations For The Operation Of The Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Tables And Chairs Scheme
	Appendix 4

	6 Aspire Project - Shared Apprenticeship Programme (SAP)
	7 Changes to Fees for the Registration Service
	8 The Orbit Business Centre
	9 Winter Night Shelter 2017-18  and National Rough Sleeper Count 2017
	10 Petition – Pedestrian Crossing, Gurnos Road
	11 Revenues & Benefits Software Contract

